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Foreword by the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive 
 

I am pleased to present the combined Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 
Annual Report and Accounts for the period 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, providing 

a full picture of the activities and performance of the Parliament over the last 
financial year. 
 

The financial year started, of course, with a Scottish Parliamentary General Election. 
The election signalled a significant change for the Parliament, with many Members 

who had served since its establishment retiring and the largest intake of new 
Members being elected since 1999. The renewed sense of optimism and excitement 
was palpable and brought back memories of the early days of the Parliament.  

 
The large amount of preparatory work in the previous session helped facilitate a 

relatively smooth transition into Session 5. The Corporate Body supported both new 
and returning Members in the establishment of their offices and all that entails. 
Following feedback from former Members, new MSPs were provided with a more 

structured and wider range of induction training and familiarisation than in previous 
sessions. Feedback from Members was overwhelmingly positive and as such this 

will be repeated and built upon, incorporating the lessons learned, for the next 
session.  
 

Session 5, of course, also saw the election of a new Presiding Officer and Corporate 
Body members. It was with great sadness that we lost a valued member in Alex 

Johnstone in December 2016.  In addition to being an MSP since 1999, Alex had just 
been re-elected to the Corporate Body, a role he had previously carried out in 
Session 3.  His contribution will be sorely missed. 

 
One of the Presiding Officer’s first significant announcements was the establishment 

of an independent Commission on Parliamentary Reform. Chaired by John 
McCormick, the Commission is looking at how the Scottish Parliament can engage 
better with the people of Scotland and how its work can be improved to deliver better 

scrutiny. The Commission is due to report in June 2017. 
 

Since the start of Session 5, constitutional issues have provided the backdrop to the 
political environment in Scotland, and indeed the rest of the United Kingdom.  New 
powers on finance and social security were devolved to the Scottish Parliament 

under the Scotland Act 2016.  During consideration of the Budget (Scotland) Bill, the 
Government lodged a motion for a Scottish rate resolution, exercising for the first 

time the power set out in the Act for the Parliament to set all rates and bands of 
income tax for Scottish taxpayers.   
 

In March 2017 the Social Security Committee met jointly with the Scottish Affairs 
Committee at Holyrood and then Westminster. The sessions examined the 

relationship between the Scottish Government and the Department of Work and 
Pensions in delivering devolved social security. The outcome was a joint letter to 
both Governments suggesting ways in which they might further develop the 

relationship. This was the first time joint activity of this type had been undertaken and 
may well point towards future collaboration.  
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Almost immediately following our election in May 2016, the UK voted in a 
referendum to leave the European Union, the consequences of which have provided 

a great deal of work for both Members and the Scottish Parliamentary Service. 
Constitutional issues are likely to continue to dominate over the coming months and 

years as the Brexit process develops.  The work involved in scrutinising the UK’s 
withdrawal from the EU will be multi-layered, complex and will present challenging 
deadlines.  In all likelihood it will significantly increase the Parliament’s legislative 

and general scrutiny workload, with committees shouldering the heaviest burden.   
 

The remainder of this session will bring unprecedented challenges to the Scottish 
Parliament and the Scottish Parliamentary Service.  The main challenge for the 
Corporate Body will be in supporting Members in carrying out their full range of 

parliamentary duties and meeting anticipated demands from further constitutional 
change and parliamentary reform.   

 

 
 
P E GRICE       Date: 21 September 2017 

Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive 
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PERFORMANCE REPORT - PERFORMANCE OVERVIEW 
 

Timing of the Report 
 

This year’s Annual Report and Accounts covers the period from 1 April 2016 to 31 
March 2017. 
 

History and Statutory Background 

 

The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body (SPCB) was established in May 1999 
under Section 21 of The Scotland Act 1998 (the Act). The SPCB comprises the 
Presiding Officer, and four, rising to five in 2016-17, other members of the Scottish 

Parliament elected by the Parliament. The SPCB has appointed a Clerk (who is also 
the Chief Executive) in accordance with Section 20 of the Act, and other staff of the 

Parliament. The SPCB is independent of the Scottish Government. 
 
The SPCB considers and makes decisions on a wide range of issues to do with the 

running of the Parliament, allocation of budget, staffing, accommodation and the use 
and security of facilities at Holyrood. 

 
Principal Activities 
 

The Parliament exists to represent the people of Scotland by debating issues of 
national importance, passing legislation and holding the Scottish Government to 

account. 
 
The SPCB has a duty to provide the Parliament, or ensure the Parliament is 

provided, with the property, staff and services required for this purpose. The 
Parliament may also give general or specific directions for the purpose of, or in 

connection with, the SPCB’s functions. 
 
The SPCB provides the infrastructure (including the Holyrood Building), pays the 

salaries of Members and reimburses the expenses which enable them to undertake 
their duties both at the Parliament and in their local offices. It provides the facilities 

and staff (Scottish Parliamentary Service (SPS)) to allow the Parliament and its 
Committees to meet and to encourage public awareness of and engagement with 
the parliamentary process. 

 
Review of the Principal Activities 

 
During the year, the SPCB discussed and took decisions on a wide range of matters 
relating to the continued support of Members and parliamentary business. Some of 

the key areas included: 
 

 An updated delegation to the Clerk/Chief Executive. 

 Support to new and returning Members in establishing local offices following the 
2016 election. 

 Court proceedings in relation to the removal of the unlawful camp on 
parliamentary grounds. 
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 Consideration of complaints received in relation to the use of parliamentary 
resources. 

 The wider economic and fiscal context in which the Parliament was likely to 
operate in the course of Session 5 and the impact of that context on the 

Parliament’s budgets during that timeframe.  

 Agreement of the SPCB’s Budget Bid for 2017-18, subsequently agreed by 

Parliament. 

 Revisions to the Scottish Parliament’s Strategic Plan. 

 Reviewing security arrangements in light of world events. 

 Supporting the on-going operations of the Commissioners and the Ombudsman, 
including the recruitment of a new Ombudsman and Children’s Commissioner 

and a new convener and two new members of the Standards Commission for 
Scotland. 

 Approval of nominations for membership of the Scottish Commission for Public 
Audit. 

 Supporting the administration of the Lobbying Register. 

 Reviewing lighting requirements in the Debating Chamber and agreeing 
proposals for improvements. 

 Supporting the Parliament’s environmental objectives by developing a new 
energy strategy for the Parliament. 

 A revised Corporate Procurement Strategy. 
 

 
The strategic plan covering 2016-17 set out the four main aims for this work and 
seven priorities for change. These were delivered through a combination of core 

service provision and a number of projects.  
 

Further information is contained in the Scottish Parliament Annual Report 2016-17 
which is available on The Scottish Parliament website. 
 

 

 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/46934.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/46931.aspx
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Performance Summary 

 
Quarter 

One 
Quarter 

Two 
Quarter 
Three 

Quarter 
Four 

Parliamentary Business  

100% parliamentary business takes place as scheduled* 98% 100% 100% 99.8% 

Support to Members  

 Number of Members Survey Feedback Interviews**  N/a 7 13 12 

                       
 

Engagement & Participation     

Operational Public Engagement KPIs are on target:  
participation, openness, reaching out & understanding***     

Corporate Governance & Financial Management     

% Outturn against SPCB budget for financial year within 
target range of 0-2.5% under SPCB budget**** 3.2% 2.1 2.1% 1.3% 

Strategic Priorities for Change on track     
Compliance monitoring report on track     

Planned Corporate Risk mitigating actions are being 
implemented     

Notes:   

*  Red status due to 2 technical issues with the electronic voting system during Decision Time (June 
2016 and January 2017). Overall parliamentary business was not impacted. 

**  Members Feedback Interviews were not conducted during quarter 1 due to Dissolution of 
Parliament from 24 March 2016 until the election on 5 May 2016. Note, quarter 2 interview 

numbers are lower as the pool excluded new Session 5 Members. 

***  Amber status due to low figures for Visitor Services. A work stream to examine visitor numbers has 
been set up as a key activity in the public engagement strategy. 

****  KPI reduces from 0-5% in Q1 and Q2 to 0-2.5% during Q3 and Q4.  

Key:  Please refer to page 11  
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties  
 

The SPCB continues to identify and manage the principal risks to our strategic aims, 
goals and priorities and the controls and actions that have been designed to mitigate 

these. During 2016/17 Leadership Group has specifically considered the 
effectiveness of the arrangements in place to manage cyber security risks, including 
detailed penetration testing and other independent reviews, as part of the wider risk 

of insufficient preparedness for an attack on the Parliament’s infrastructure. In 
addition, comprehensive business continuity impact assessments have been 

developed and considered by Leadership Group to manage risks associated with 
overall resilience in the event of a loss of the Holyrood building; insufficient numbers 
of members able to participate in Parliament; staff unavailability to run services; loss 

of IT and connectivity; loss of utilities; loss of a critical supplier; and/or loss of vital 
records. 

 
More detail on our approach to managing strategic risk is included in the 
Performance Analysis section and the Governance Statement of the Annual Report 

and Accounts. 
 

 
Indication of Likely Future Developments 
 

A forward look is included within the Scottish Parliamentary Performance Report on 
priorities for change within the Performance Analysis section of the Annual Report 

and Accounts (pages 16 to 23). 
 
In June 2017 the SPCB approved updated versions of the Parliament’s Strategic 

Plan and Delivery Plan. The Strategic Plan continues to set out the high level 
purpose, vision and strategic goals of the Parliament, followed by the aims of the 

Scottish Parliamentary Service and its priorities. The aims challenge the staff and 
guide decisions on how we organise ourselves to achieve our outcomes. The 
priorities start to focus on the things we are actually doing to meet the aims. The 

priorities in the strategic plan updated in June 2017 are: 
 

 Members excelling in their parliamentary and representative roles, including 
through access to the best available information, delivering the highest 
standards of oversight and scrutiny  

 Scottish Parliamentary Service staff with the capacity and skills to meet the 
challenges of delivering parliamentary services, in a changing environment   

 A co-ordinated and planned approach to proposals for constitutional and 
procedural change to enhance the Parliaments’ oversight and legislative roles 

 Deliver public engagement activities that improve the quality and visibility of 
the work of the Parliament 

 Efficient and effective deployment of our staff, financial and physical 

resources 

 A modern Parliament, demonstrating a smart, confident use of technology and 

information to drive improvements in how we communicate and work 

 Safe, secure and resilient working environments for Members, Members ’ 

Staff, the Scottish Parliamentary Service & the Public 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/The_Strategic_Plan_for_the_Scottish_Parliament_V1.0.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/The_Strategic_Plan_for_the_Scottish_Parliament_V1.0.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/Scottish_Parliamentary_Delivery_Plan_V1.0.pdf
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The Delivery Plan contains the key activities that allow us to translate the ambitions 

of the Strategic Plan into reality. It describes in more detail how we aim to meet our 
priorities and allows us to monitor progress towards them.  

 
 
Position at End of Year 

 

The net operating cost for 2016-17 was £95.6m including a pension charge of £3.1m 

(see note 5) (2015-16 £89.6m including a pension charge of £3.5m (see note 5)).  
Salaries of parliamentary staff, MSPs and other office holders accounted for £39.6m 
(2015-16 £37.0m) of this total as disclosed in Note 3 to the Accounts. The 

reimbursement of Members’ Expenses, which enables MSPs to secure staff and 
accommodation to assist them in the discharge of their parliamentary duties, was 

£15.3m (2015-16 £12.3m) as disclosed in Note 5 to the Accounts. Information on the 
financial position is contained in the Financial Statements with further disclosure in 
the Notes to the Accounts. A summary of the main categories of revenue 

expenditure is set out below. 
 

Revenue expenditure Note 2016-17 

(£’000) 

2015-16 

(£’000) 

SPS Salaries  3 25,604 25,647 

Staff related costs  5 569 610 

Property costs 5 9,034 9,898 

Running costs 5 8,354 7,797 

Members’ and other 
Officeholders’ Salaries * 

3 13,998 11,374 

Members’ and other 

Officeholders’ reimbursement of 
expenses including financial 

assistance for registered political 
parties ** 

5 15,796 12,746 

Commissioners and Ombudsman 20 8,413 8,232 

Operating income 6 (696) (754) 

Non-cash items 

 Depreciation and 
impairment 

 Other e.g. pension finance 

cost (net), loss on 
disposal of asset, auditors 

remuneration 

 

7,8 
 

5 

 

11,391 
 

3,140 

 

10,435 
 

3,629 

Net Operating Cost  95,603 89,614 

 
* Due to the election in May 2016, Members salary costs in 2016-17 

include £2,106,691 of resettlement costs and Ministerial salaries include 
£144,278 of Ministerial/Officeholder severance costs. 
 

** In 2016-17 a revised staff cost provision was introduced for the 
employment of Members’ staff, and these costs increased by £3 million. 
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Capital expenditure in 2016-17 amounted to £2.2m (2015-16 £1.2m) and is detailed 

in Notes 7 and 8 to the accounts. The main items of capital expenditure in 2016-17 
were on broadcasting equipment, server replacement programme, digital meeting 

rooms and other digital workplace initiatives, multi-function devices, Chamber 
legislative technology and Chamber lighting. 
 

Due to changes in actuarial factors in 2016-17, there was a net loss of £9.9m on 
pension reserves compared to a gain of £4.5m in 2015-16 as disclosed in Note 4 to 

the Accounts.  
 
At the end of the financial year 15 staff (2015-16, 14 staff) were on secondment from 

other organisations. 
 

Although the Commissioners and Ombudsman function independently of the SPCB, 
the SPCB is responsible for funding their activities and these funding costs of £8.4m 
(2015-16 £8.2m) are therefore included within these accounts. Further detail is 

contained in Note 20 to the Accounts.  
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PERFORMANCE REPORT - PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

 

Fundamental to the successful achievement of the Strategic and Deliver Plans is the 
measurement and monitoring of performance. A quarterly reporting mechanism is in 

place, the Scottish Parliamentary Performance Report. The report measures our 
performance against our Aims and Priorities for Change. Over the course of the 
year, the performance reports have been reviewed and agreed by the Leadership 

Group (LG) and the SPCB. Each quarterly report is included in the Chief Executive’s 
report which goes to the SPCB and is published thereafter.  

 
The quarterly performance reports are used to measure performance and play an 
integral role in the strategic governance of the organisation. The reports comprise 

high level strategic performance indicators to improve accountability and 
performance. A red, amber, green status (RAG) sets out the overall performance of 

each of the measures against the SPCB’s Aims and Priorities for Change. The 
definition of each RAG status is provided below:  
 

 

 

RED 

There are significant issues impacting the achievement of organisations 
objectives. To achieve delivery changes must be made to timing, cost 

and/or scope. 

 

 

AMBER 

There are issues or risks which must be addressed. However, successful 
delivery is achievable without major impacts to budget, service standards 

or target dates. 

 

 

 

GREEN 

Work is meeting agreed standards or is proceeding to plan. All known 
risks are being managed. 

 
A rating of whether performance is on track or not is also provided: 

On Track  Yes    No   

 
The SPCB’s aims can be categorised under 4 broad headings and a high level 

summary of each of these areas follows:  
 

1. Parliamentary Business  
2. Support to Members 
3. Engagement & Participation  

4. Corporate Governance & Financial Management 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

R 

A 

G 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/46934.aspx
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1. Parliamentary Business 
 

Overall Rating:    99.5% of parliamentary business took place as planned. 

Business not impacted by two small technical faults. 

Parliamentary Business relates to the parliamentary proceedings in the debating 

chamber (deciding on new laws/processing bills; time for reflection; debates; 
motions; questions and answers - First Minister’s Question Time, Question Time; 
Ministerial statements; Decision Time: Members’ business) and committee meetings 

(scrutinising legislation and inquiries). Further information is available in the Scottish 
Parliament Annual Report 2016-17. 

 
The Key Performance Indicator (KPI) for parliamentary business is based on a 
combination of four performance measures: 

 

 Chamber available in accordance with requirements.*  

 Committee rooms available in accordance with requirements.*  

 Sound functioning as required. 

 Voting functioning as required. 

 
*   Including power and lighting 

 
3 out of the 4 performance measures achieved the quarterly target of 100%.  

 
The performance measure for “Voting functioning as required” did not achieve the 
100% target as on 2 separate occasions, technical issues were experienced with the 

electronic voting system delaying Decision Time. This occurred in June 2016 and 
January 2017. However, there was no overall impact on parliamentary business 

therefore performance is assessed as being on track. 
 
 

2. Support to Members 
 

Overall Rating:    Members have expressed satisfaction with support 
provided.  

 

Support to Members comes in a variety of forms from business areas across the 

Scottish Parliamentary Service (SPS). It includes support on parliamentary 
proceedings, for example, SPICe research briefings summarising parliamentary 

scrutiny of bills; background information material for debates; and fact sheets on 
running parliamentary and local offices including payroll services, employment 

http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/105490.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/105490.aspx
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advice, reimbursement of expenses, provision of IT, furniture, equipment and 
support.  

 
Members’ Survey Feedback Interviews 

 
The purpose of the Members’ Feedback Interview is to receive Members’ views on 
how well the parliamentary service supports them in their duties to fulfil their 

parliamentary and constituency/representative roles. This is a key performance 
measure. The format is a rolling programme of semi-structured interviews, which 

collects a measure of Members’ satisfaction, in order to identify key themes and 
trends in organisational performance. Sixteen Members are invited to participate 
each quarter. Due to the dissolution of Parliament from 24 March until the election on 

5 May 2016, LG agreed not to conduct any Members Interviews during quarter 1. 
 

During 2016-17, 32 Members participated. Overall, feedback remained consistent 
throughout the year with Members overwhelmingly of the view that the SPS provides 
a high quality service: all 32 Members were either very satisfied or satisfied with 

services at Holyrood; and 30 were either very satisfied or satisfied with services to 
support local offices, one Member declined to provide a rating and one Member was 

dissatisfied. Where Members made suggestions for improvement, these have been 
passed to the relevant business areas to act on as appropriate. Common issues or 
suggestions for development were identified and, while these were not in significant 

quantities, the feedback remains valuable in enabling the SPS to fulfil its ethos of 
continuous improvement. 

 
3. Engagement & Participation 

Overall Rating:    
The overall target was achieved although there was a 
decline in visitor numbers. 

 

The Public Engagement Strategy aligns to the Strategic Plan, having been agreed by 

the SPCB in October 2016. At its heart, public engagement is about improving the 
quality and visibility of the work of the Parliament. The Public Engagement Strategy 

reflects this linkage with the core business of the Parliament. Furthermore, the Public 
Engagement Strategy will be refreshed in autumn 2017, to take account of the 
findings of the Commission for Parliamentary Reform; the associated key 

performance indicators will be reviewed at that time for appropriateness. 
 

A number of performance measures fall under the three aims of the public 
engagement activities: 
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 Promoting innovative communications between the Parliament and the people 

of Scotland, particularly those people who have not previously engaged. 

 Increasing focus on engagement activities that lead to, or support, 
participation in the work of the Parliament. 

 Raising the awareness of the relevance of the Parliament to the people of 
Scotland. 

 

There was strong performance in the delivery of activities for the first two aims, in 
terms of average retweets on both the @ScotParl Twitter account and committee 
Twitter accounts; new subscribers to This Week in the Scottish Parliament; and 

Member sponsored events and exhibitions. 
 
Committee engagement has been the key focus in the first year of the parliamentary 

session as there is general agreement that the most effective way to engage with the 
public is in relation to subjects that matter to people’s lives. Committee Engagement 

Plans are produced for significant pieces of committee work, drawing on the 
expertise of colleagues across the parliamentary service including Outreach 
Services and Web and Social Media. Further information is available in the Scottish 

Parliament Annual Report 2016-17. 
 

In respect of the third aim, visitor figures for 2016-17 were 4% lower at 267,472 than 
2015-16 (278,825), however, the percentage of available guided tour places fully 
booked increased from 76% in 2015-16 to 82% in 2016-17. In March 2017, an Open 

Parliament marketing campaign was launched to raise awareness of the Parliament 
as a place that can be visited free, six days a week, as part of a wider Visit 

Parliament campaign. It is important to note that the overall visitor numbers is only 
one aspect of this aim.  
 

Other activities relating to raising awareness of the Parliament exceeded annual 
targets, for example, an average of 148,760 visitors per month to the Parliament’s 

website (target: 120,000) and the education programme was delivered to 24,529 
(target: 22,000). In addition, social media channels were expanded including the 
successful pilot of an Instagram account and Facebook Live, as well as an 

expansion of our video output, reflective of the societal change in how people 
consume information. 
 
4. Corporate Governance & Financial Management 

 

Overall Rating:    
Corporate Governance and Financial Management targets 

were achieved.  

 

The SPS is responsible for providing the facilities, equipment, clerking support and 
other services that the Members require to undertake their parliamentary functions. 
The SPS needs to ensure that it exercises good governance, excellent financial 

management whilst being open and accountable for its actions. 

https://twitter.com/scotparl
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/105490.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/105490.aspx
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The KPIs for Corporate Governance and Financial Management include: 

 

 1.3% Outturn against SPCB budget for financial year was within the target 
range of 0-2.5% under SPCB budget. 

 Strategic Priorities for Change on track. 

 Compliance monitoring report on track. 

 Planned Corporate Risk mitigating actions are being implemented. 

 
Further information on the SPCB’s financial performance against budget is included 

in Note 2 to the Accounts (page 63). Regular reports of financial performance are 
prepared and considered throughout the year by LG and the SPCB with these 

reports then included and published as part of the Chief Executive’s report. 
 
Further detail on the performance of the Priorities for Change including a forward 

look for each of these activities follows on pages 16 to 23.  
 

Compliance reporting covers a number of statutory and other targets which the 
SPCB must comply with including Freedom of Information (FOI) requests, health and 
safety, fire safety, environmental and equalities performance indicators. 

 
Planned corporate risk mitigating actions and the progress on implementing these 

were reviewed by LG at 4 meetings during the year. A summary of the Corporate 
Risk Register including a forward look follows on page 24. 
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Priorities for Change 
 

Priority Status 

Immediate priorities post-election  G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Election Planning Programme 
 

 52 Orientation Guides were trained in April 2016 on a wide range of parliamentary services in 
order to support newly elected Members following the election on 5 May 2016. The registration, 
induction and orientation programme was delivered between 9 and 12 May 2017, with manned 
information stalls between 10 and 25 May 2017.  

 Chamber seating and MSP office allocations were completed in advance of first formal 
parliamentary business on 12 May 2016. 

 BIT finalised and completed their effective support arrangements to assist Members establish 
their local offices by May 2016. 

 The new local office technical environment rollout for newly elected Members commenced in 
June 2016. By end of March 2017, 41 local offices were completed. 2017-18 Forward Look:  9 
local offices were completed by end of May 2017 with the last office being passed to business 
as usual for action. 

 HR provided effective support to implement the new staffing arrangements for MSP staff 
including auto pension enrolment for MSP staff in line with the staging date of 1 July 2016. 

 Delivered new desktop and mobile technologies to all 51 new Members between July and 
September 2016. 

 Delivery of the refresh in desktop and mobile technologies for returned Members and their staff 
commenced in May 2016. By end of March 2017, 73 local offices were completed. 2017-18 
Forward Look:  3 local offices were completed by end of May 2017 with the remaining 2 offices 
being passed to business as usual for action. 

 Around half of newly elected Members were interviewed on the delivery of the registration, 
induction and orientation programme during September and October 2016. 

 The 2016 Election Planning Programme Closure Report was agreed by LG in November 2016 
and by the SPCB in December 2016. 

 During 2016-17, 72 Members’ Case Management system demonstrations were delivered. The 
formal roll out of the system commenced in August 2016. By end of March 2017, all 49 
requested Case Management environments were set up in the system with 45 fully 
implemented. 2017-18 Forward Look:  The remaining 4 Case Management environments were 
finalised and training completed by end of May 2017. Additional training on the system was 
delivered in April, May and June 2017. 

 
Customer Relationship Managers Review 
 
 The proposal to undertake a review of the customer relationship management service was 

discussed between the Group Head of Digital Services, Group Head of Human Resources & 
Facilities Management and an Assistant Chief Executive in October 2016; as there was 
widespread satisfaction with the current CRM model it was agreed that a review would not be 
undertaken at this stage. 
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Priority Status 

Support Members to excel in their parliamentary and representative roles 
through the successful implementation of an on-going development programme G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Members’ Development Programme 
 
 During 2016-17, the Continuous Professional Development (CPD) Working Group 

implemented and developed the Members ’ Development Programme. This followed on 
immediately from the induction programme for new Members. The following courses were 
delivered:  Speechwriting for parliamentarians (May 2016); Interacting with the media as a 
parliamentarian (May and September 2016); Being a parliamentarian (June 2016); 
Understanding the budget (November and December 2016) and Questioning techniques for 
committees (March 2017). 2017-18 Forward Look:  The CPD Working Group will continue to 
support Members’ oversight and scrutiny functions through the provision of delivering courses 
including Questioning techniques for committees (April, May and September 2017); 
Understanding legislation (May 2017) and Disability training (to be scheduled after summer 
2017 recess). 

 A review of the success and lessons learned from the initial series of courses, including 
feedback received from Members, was originally due to be completed by September 2016.  
This work began in October 2016, and completion was delayed due to other work pressures 
and focusing effort on the delivery of new courses such as Questioning techniques and 
Understanding the budget. 2017-18 Forward Look:  A paper on the Members’ Development 
Programme – Review of the first 12 months of Session 5 was presented to the LG in June 
2017.  

 A meeting of the Inter-parliamentary CPD network was held at the Scottish Parliament in 
March 2017. This included officials from the UK Parliament, the National Assembly for Wales 
and the Northern Ireland Assembly with the aim of sharing experiences and knowledge across 
legislatures. 
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Priority Status 

Strengthen our processes, systems and our support to enable Members to 
deliver the highest standards of scrutiny G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Parliamentary Reform 
 

 Committee Office supported the Presiding Officer and Business Managers to enable the new 
committee structure to be agreed by Parliament on 1 June 2016. Changes to remits of 
mandatory committees were agreed in September 2016. 

 In September 2016, the Parliamentary Bureau invited the Standards, Procedures and Public 
Appointments Committee to consider making permanent changes to the format of FMQs 
following a pilot in June 2017. The Parliament agreed the changes with effect from October 
2017. 

 A session on the Programme for Government was held in November 2016 with the Conveners 
Group and the First Minister. In January 2017, it was agreed to hold 2 meetings each year with 
the FM, in October and March. 2017-18 Forward Look:  A meeting with the FM is scheduled for 
25 October 2017. 

 

Legislative Drafting, Amending and Publishing Programme (LDAPP) 
 

 Work on the LDAPP continued to advance throughout 2016-17: the first phase of beta 
development work was completed in September 2016; testing by product owners in partner 
organisations between October and December 2016 informed prioritisation of the development 
activity in the beta-plus phase; the procurement strategy for the live transition phase was 
developed during January to March 2017; and the beta-plus phase commenced in January 
2017 and concluded in July 2017. 2017-18 Forward Look: The procurement exercise for the live 
transition phase commenced in May 2017 with contracts scheduled to be in place by April 2018.  

 

Academic Engagement Strategy 
 

 A Social Security Advisory Network involving academics and practitioners to support scrutiny of 
new powers was established in September 2016. 

 A Brexit Breakfast seminar series was established in September 2016. From October 2016 to 
March 2017 sessions were held on a variety of topics including International Trade; Economic 
Outlook; Social Rights and Protections; Environment; Human Rights; the Withdrawal Process in 
the UK; and Fisheries. 

 An Academic Fellowship Scheme was piloted from September to December 2016 with the aim 
of providing deep subject analysis from early career academics. The pilot briefing on human 
rights was well received and a full programme was established in March 2017. 

 The Academic Engagement Strategy for 2017-18 was agreed in March 2017, with a continuing 
focus on the implementation of the newly devolved powers and Brexit. 

 

Lobbying Register 
 

 LG agreed in June 2016 the next steps for the Parliament in supporting the implementation of 
the Lobbying (Scotland) Act 2016, including: an external procurement exercise for the register 
database, contract awarded March 2017; and the appointment of the Lobbying Registrar in 
September 2016 and Support Manager in January 2017. 

 In January 2017, the SPCB considered the progress towards the implementation of the Act. 
2017-18 Forward Look:  In May 2017, the Parliament agreed Standing Orders changes to allow 
for making determinations and resolutions under the Act. Members of a stakeholder working 
group were appointed in May and met in June 2017. A progress report to the SPCB is 
scheduled for September 2017. 
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Priority Status 

Proactively influence proposals for constitutional and procedural change to 
enhance the Parliament’s oversight and legislative roles G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Constitutional Issues Board (CIB) 
 

 During 2016-17, the CIB analysed and scenario planned the impact on parliament of further 
devolution of powers, the likely demands placed upon it by the UK’s decision to leave the EU and 
other constitutional developments. 
 

Impact of New Powers on the Parliamentary Service 
 

 Throughout 2016-17, the CIB monitored the implementation of the Scotland Act 2016 and the 
Fiscal Framework and their impact on parliamentary services; and carried out detailed work 
exploring the implications of the EU referendum. In particular, during January and March 2017, 
plans for a capacity exercise in early 2017-18 were developed which will consider the implications 
for Parliamentary resources of the Brexit process with a view to informing the SPCB’s 
consideration of its 2018-19 budget. 2017-18 Forward Look:  During April and May 2017, the CIB 
considered the implications of the snap General Election on 8 June 2017 and the possibility of a 
second Independence Referendum. The CIB will continue to undertake work on the implications 
of Brexit under six strands (Legislative consent motions; Parliamentary scrutiny; Implications of 
the Repeal Bill; New settlement; Social and economic rights of staff; and Independence 
Referendum Planning).  

 

Parliamentary Procedures Relating to Scrutiny of New Powers 
 

 During October 2016 to March 2017, the CIB monitored parliamentary processes relating to 
scrutiny of the new powers with inter-parliamentary co-operation at official level. 2017-18 Forward 
Look: The CIB will continue their monitoring work and will consider strategic inter-parliamentary 
cooperation on inter-governmental relations scrutiny by end of December 2017. 

 During January to March 2017, the CIB engaged with the Parliamentary Bureau and SPCB in 
consideration of future challenges for the parliament. 2017-18 Forward Look:  During the first and 
second quarters of 2017-18 both bodies plus the Conveners Group will be further engaged to 
establish a common understanding of future scrutiny challenges.  

 

Devolved Legislative Framework for the Parliament 
 

 An initial review of the devolved legislative framework for the Parliament was carried out by 
officials to determine if it is fit for purpose. It identified 2 areas in the 2016 Scotland Act where 
powers would sit more appropriately with the Parliament. 2017-18 Forward look: Scottish 
Government officials will be engaged to discuss suitable legislative solutions.  

 

Parliamentary Reform 
 

 The independent Commission on Parliamentary Reform was established in October 2016 to take 
forward aspirations for Session 5. The Commission held 50 events in the space of 3 months 
(testing innovative engagement approaches), and held 16 Commission meetings over the course 
of 8 months. 2017-18 Forward Look:  In June 2017, the Commission published its report on the 
Scottish Parliament including recommendations to strengthen the Parliament, promote effective 
scrutiny and refresh our relationships with those we represent. A Presiding Officer-led group will 
be established by August 2017 to monitor and review the disposal of all recommendations of the 
Commission against an agreed timetable. A small team to support the PO group and coordinate 
office and staff engagement will also be established in the same timeframe. 
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Priority   Status 

Deliver public and external engagement activities that improve the quality and 
visibility of the work of the Parliament G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Public Engagement Strategy 
 

 Publication of public information materials reflecting the new Session 5 Parliament, were made 
available in June 2016. 

 The SPCB agreed the 2016-17 Major Events and Exhibitions Programme in June 2016 and it was 
delivered as planned including:  The Kirking of the Fifth Session of Parliament (May 2016); 
Session 5 Opening Ceremony including the first Big Day Out (July 2016); Festival of Politics 2016 
(August 2016); Harry Benson: Seeing America Exhibition (August to December 2016); Scottish 
Parliament’s Gaelic Week (November to December 2016); and the Your Scottish Parliament 
Conference (March 2017). 

 The SPCB approved the refreshed Public Engagement Strategy in October 2016. 

 The new permanent exhibition for visitors, A Parliament for the People Exhibition was opened by 
the Presiding Officer in March 2017. 

 The Gaelic Working Group, established in October 2016, reviewed the final stage of Gaelic 
Language Plan 2 (until March 2018) in January 2017 and prepared for GLP3 (April 2018 to March 
2023). 2017-18 Forward Look:  An internal consultation on the new Gaelic Language Plan was 
completed in April 2017. 

 VisitParliament marketing campaign was launched in March 2017.  

 2017-18 Forward Look:  Work on mapping the current visitor engagement and experience to 
Parliament; and on a research programme across audiences was completed in June 2017 and 
will be reflected in the refreshed Public Engagement Strategy by October 2017. A review of social 
media channels was delivered in June 2017. A new webcasting and video on demand service 
with scope to introduce new functionality and facilitate reuse of footage will be delivered by 
September 2017. 

 
Committee Engagement Strategy  

 

 The Committee Engagement Strategy was implemented in August 2016 and all KPIs are on track.  
Feedback from the first few months of the parliamentary session has signalled that engagement 
activities providing an insight into the experiences of people directly affected by the policies being 
considered has given momentum to evidence sessions and enhanced scrutiny. 2017-18 Forward 
Look:  By the end December 2017, all significant committee work will have an accompanying 
engagement plan. 

 
International Strategy 

 

 The revised International Strategy outlining the aims and focus of the Parliament’s International 
engagement was approved by LG in December 2016 and the SPCB in January 2017, and 
published in February 2017. 
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Priority Status 

Optimise our financial, physical, information and staff resources by 
modernising business activities and developing new arrangements for resource 
allocation decisions 

G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Strategic Planning 
 

 The refreshed Strategic and Delivery Plans were approved by LG and SPCB, in May and June 
2016, respectively; with the 6 month Delivery Plan refresh approved by LG in October 2016.   

 In March 2017, LG agreed a new approach to the strategic planning process review including 
wider staff engagement; and a Strategic Planning Steering Group with representatives from 
each parliamentary group was established. 2017-18 Forward Look:  The Strategic Plan and 
Delivery Plan were approved by LG and the SPCB in June 2017 and published thereafter. The 
office planning and performance reporting processes are to be reviewed by December 2017. 

 

Strategic Resources Board (SRB) 
 

 In August 2016, LG agreed a revised remit for the SRB and restricted membership to the three 
Assistant Chief Executives. 

 The SRB presented the Draft 2017-18 Budget, and 2018-19 Indicative Budget to LG and SPCB 
in November 2016 for approval. Thereafter, the SRB supported the SPCB’s draft budget bid 
submission which was scrutinised by the Finance and Constitution Committee in December 
2016. 

 The SPCB discussed parliamentary capacity – support to Members in terms of financial 
resources and resources in general in February 2017. 2017-18 Forward Look:  The SPCB 
discussed an update on parliamentary capacity – support to Members in June 2017. 

 

Business Continuity Strategy 
 

 LG and SPCB endorsed the updated Policy and Strategy for Business Continuity in December 
2016. The Business Continuity Board will monitor progress against those with a particular focus 
on the overall awareness of business continuity matters and the training and development of 
staff with business continuity responsibilities. 

 

IT Infrastructure and Support Service Contract 
 

 Work on the contract advanced throughout 2016-17:  The procurement strategy was approved 
in December 2016; during Q3, project governance was agreed, the project initiation and 
governance gateway review was successful and the audit of infrastructure and digital services to 
inform the tender specification was completed by an external organisation; in January 2017, the 
specification documentation was finalised and the pre-tender gateway review was completed; 
the invitation to tender was issued in February 2017 with 6 compliant bids received by the April 
2017 deadline. 2017-18 Forward Look: In April and May 2017, tender evaluations, clarifications 
and the audit review before award recommendation were completed with the contract awarded 
in June 2017. The next major phase of the project will be the transition from the incumbent 
partner to the new supplier, engagement has started with the full transition project expected to 
commence in August 2017.  

 

Energy Strategy 
 

 In March 2017, a paper was presented to the SPCB setting out proposals for an energy 
strategy designed to meet 2020 targets. The SPCB endorsed the approach and agreed that a 
strategy should be developed for consideration by the SPCB in autumn 2017. 
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Priority  Status 

Drive more efficient, effective and flexible working environment for Members, 
their staff and the SPS, enabled by secure digital technologies G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Digital Strategy  
 

 LG approved the Digital Strategy for Session 5 in July 2016 and the Digital Strategy 
Governance in September 2016. 

 The Digital Strategy Board (DSB) was established and remit agreed in October 2016, 
membership expanded to include all Group Heads in March 2017. 

 Digital Portfolio Performance reporting was implemented in February 2017. 
 The 2017-18 Digital Portfolio including prioritisation was agreed by the DSB in March 2017. 

2017-18 Forward Look: In June 2017, the DSB identified the next set of candidate projects to 
join the Digital Portfolio, and developed a Risk Register for the delivery of the Digital Strategy; 
and progress on projects was reported to DSB in May and June 2017. Development of 
improved demand management processes is due by October 2017.  

 
Information Security Management Systems 
 

 Management actions from the audit of information security practices and processes carried out 
in June 2016 were completed in March 2017. 

 BIT collaborated with with the Incident Communication Team to improve communication 
elements of the BIT Incident Management Process. This was completed by December 2016. 

 Penetration test of network to identify any vulnerabilities was completed by March 2017. 
 2017-18 Forward look: Commenced cyber awareness and education campaign in May 2017. 
 
Data Breach Team and Associate Procedures   
 

 Survey on personal data held in the organisation was completed by Office Heads in September 
2016 and the analysis of returned responses was completed by October 2016. 

 A successful Data Breach practice with the Incident Management Team was completed in 
September 2016 and the Data Breach Team became operational in March 2017. 

 LG were briefed on Loss of Information Risk in October 2016.  
 In January 2017, LG were briefed on the impact to the organisation of the EU General Data 

Protection Regulation (GDPR) which comes into effect in May 2018. During Q4, Snippets on 
GDPR requirements were held. 2017-18 Forward Look:  Further GDPR snippets are planned in 
Q1. GDPR Compliance project started in May 2017 and a project plan was completed. 

 
BIT Strategy to Support Digital Working Across SPS 

 

 Work on the BIT strategy to support digital working across SPS continued throughout 2016-17.  

 Project mobilised in June 2016 for new working environment (Windows 10, Office 365/2016, 
laptop, desktop, hybrid device) for SPS and testing began with early adopters. 

 Equipment bought in March 2017 for rollout in 2017-18; continued testing of new SPS 
environment with early adopters including LG, Committee office and Information Management 
and Governance; and initial applications requiring remediation identified from early adopters. 

 Initiation stage of the design and test for the new environment began in March 2017. 

 2017-18 Forward Look:  Project resources assigned in May 2017. Business engagement and 
Application workshop held in June 2017. Phase 0 (Initiation) was completed by end of May 
2017. Phase 1 (Exchange Migration and Application Compatibility) was commenced in June 
2017. 
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Priority Status 

Design and implement a staff development framework focusing on change, 
leadership, individual responsibility and accountability G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 
 

 The Diversity and Inclusion Strategy was agreed by LG and published in January 2017. 2017-18 
Forward Look:  A board to oversee the strategy was established in May 2017. 

 
Inclusive Talent Management 

 

 The inclusive talent and learning programme was approved by the Organisational Development 
Board in December 2016 and the roll out to the SPS commenced in January 2017.  

 
New Approach to Recruitment 

 

 An approach to Temporary Resources was agreed by the Organisational Development Board in 
April and LG in May 2016.  

 LG considered a paper on the Recruitment review in January 2017. 2017-18 Forward Look:  The 
Senior Responsible Officer and support for the Recruitment review will report to LG in autumn 2017 
with the revised approach to recruitment published thereafter. 

 
Leadership and Management 

 

 LG agreed an approach to the development of Leadership and Management capacity and capability 
in March 2017. 2017-18 Forward Look:  LG development will be completed by autumn 2017. 

 
Time and Attendance  

 

 Following the successful completion of the Time and Attendance project to all existing users in 
December 2017, the project team progressed work exploring the feasibility of implementing the 
system across Security staff (this work is out-with the scope of the initial project). Successful 
implementation will allow the Security Office to retire a number of processes which are currently 
supported by BIT. 2017-18 Forward Look:  Two Operational Security teams commenced pilot of the 
Time Recording System in May 2017 for an initial 2 month period. 

 
Organisational Development Programme  

 

 The Organisational Development programme was successfully closed in March 2017. 2017-18 
Forward Look:  The Closure Report will be completed by September 2017 and presented to LG. 
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Corporate Risk Register  Status 

Planned Corporate Risk mitigating actions are being implemented G 

2016-17 Highlights & Forward Look 

 
 The Corporate Risk Register sets out fourteen high level risks which may act as barriers to the 

successful delivery of the aims of the Scottish Parliamentary Service. Corporate risks are identified 
from a variety of sources including: strategic, delivery and office plans; major programmes and 
projects; and other known and emerging business priorities such as business continuity high impact 
risks. Each corporate risk is aligned to a specific aim(s) within the Strategic Plan, is scored in terms 
of likelihood and impact and is designated as high, medium or low both before (inherent risk) and 
after (residual risk) the application of internal controls and management actions. 

 

 LG reviewed the Corporate Risk Register on a quarterly basis. In June 2016, the status of the 
controls and actions designed to mitigate all 14 strategic risks were reviewed in detail. 

 

 Over the course of 2016-17, LG specifically considered the risk exposure and associated 
mitigations for: 

 
o Cyber Security; 
o Unavailability of Holyrood building; 
o Insufficient preparedness for attack on the Parliament’s infrastructure; 
o A further reduction in resources and/or increased workload affects the SPS’s ability to deliver 

as required; and 
o Failure of the Parliament’s IT and Communication Systems. 

 

 The effectiveness of the arrangements in place to manage cyber security risks, as part of the risk of 
insufficient preparedness for attack on the parliament’s infrastructure, included consideration of 
penetration testing arrangements and an independent internal audit review of cyber security 
maturity which was completed and reported in December 2016. 

 

 In addition, comprehensive business continuity impact assessments have been developed and 
considered in detail by LG during the year to further manage risks associated with overall resilience 
in the event of unavailability of the Holyrood building; insufficient preparedness of numbers of 
members able to participate in Parliament; staff unavailability to run services; loss of IT and 
connectivity; loss of utilities; loss of a critical supplier; and/or loss of vital records. 

 

 2017-18 Forward Look:  Detailed risk reviews will continue throughout 2017-18 with a continuing 
focus on cyber and wider security threats and other risks associated with the successful delivery of 
portfolios, programmes and projects. 

 

 
 

P E GRICE       Date: 21 September 2017 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive 
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ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT - CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 
 

REPORT OF THE CORPORATE BODY  
 

I present the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body’s (SPCB’s) report and accounts 

for the year ended 31 March 2017. 
 

The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the Direction by The Scottish 
Ministers given on 17 January 2006 in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public 
Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 

 
As set out in The Scotland Act 1998, funding for the SPCB is payable out of the 

Scottish Consolidated Fund.  
 
The SPCB and Senior Managers 

 

As at April 2016, the members of the SPCB were: Tricia Marwick MSP, Presiding 

Officer, Linda Fabiani MSP, Liam McArthur MSP, John Pentland MSP and Liz Smith 
MSP. 
 

Following the Scottish parliamentary elections on 5 May 2016, the Parliament 
elected Ken Macintosh MSP as the new Presiding Officer at which date he also 
became chair of the SPCB, replacing Tricia Marwick.  The membership of the SPCB 

is currently: 
    Appointed  

 
Ken Macintosh MSP, Presiding Officer   12 May 2016 
Alex Johnstone MSP 19 May 2016 (resigned 2 

November 2016) 
Gordon MacDonald MSP     19 May 2016 

Liam McArthur MSP     19 May 2016 
David Stewart MSP      19 May 2016 
Andy Wightman MSP      19 May 2016 

Jackson Carlaw MSP     15 November 2016 
 

The SPCB has agreed portfolio arrangements whereby members take a lead interest 
in specific issues. During 2016-17 these were as follows: 
  

Jackson Carlaw MSP – Finance and Security 
Gordon MacDonald MSP – Governance 

Liam McArthur MSP - Engagement 
David Stewart MSP – Resources 
Andy Wightman MSP – Business support and Information 

 
A Register of Members' Interests is published on the Parliament's website and 

details for Leadership Group are available on request.  
 
Senior management forming the Leadership Group employed by the SPCB during 

the 2016-17 financial year were: 

http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/18343.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot/msps/register-of-interests.aspx
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Paul Grice   Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive 
Michelle Hegarty  Assistant Chief Executive 

Ken Hughes   Assistant Chief Executive 
David McGill   Assistant Chief Executive  
Alan Balharrie  Head of Digital Services Group 

Colin Chisholm  Head of HR and FM Group 
Derek Croll    Head of Finance and Security Group 

Susan Duffy    Head of Committees and Outreach Group 
Judith Morrison  Head of Legal Services, Procurement and Audit Group 
Callum Thomson  Head of Research, Communications and Public 

Engagement Group  
Tracey White   Head of Chamber, Reporting and Broadcasting Group  

 
The Remuneration Report contains information about the salary and pension 
entitlements of the above named individuals. 

 
The Leadership Group currently constitutes the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief 

Executive, two permanent Assistant Chief Executives, 1 temporary Assistant Chief 
Executive and seven Group Heads. Senior management arrangements were 
reviewed in advance of Session 5 of the Parliament and a structure chart is available 

on the SPCB’s website.  
 

The appointment of David McGill as Assistant Chief Executive (temporary) from 1 
June 2015 to 31 July 2016 has been extended to December 2018. Tracey White’s 
promotion on a temporary basis as Head of Chamber, Reporting and Broadcasting 

from 15 June 2015 to 31 July 2016 has also been extended to December 2018.   
 
 

Related parties 

 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its 
financial statements. The listing of SPCB members above includes a reference to the 

Register of Members’ Interests which is published and further information is 
contained in the Notes to the Accounts (Note 20).   
 
Pension Liabilities 
 

The SPCB uses full IAS 19 pension scheme accounting for the Members’ Pension 
Fund (Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme). This means the net position for the 
scheme assets and liabilities is reflected in the SPCB Statement of Financial Position 

(Notes 4 & 14). Further information is available on the Scottish Parliamentary 
Pension Scheme within its annual accounts. The treatment of pension liabilities and 

details of the relevant pension schemes, including the Civil Service and Others 
Pension Scheme (CSOPS) and Alpha for staff, are set out in the statement of 

accounting policies (Note 1k and Note 4).  
 

 
 

 

http://www.parliament.scot/Recruitment/2017_06_28_Orgchart_New_Structure2.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/15027.aspx
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Supplier Payment Policy 
 

The SPCB's policy is to comply with the UK Government’s Prompt Payment Code. 
The target is for payment to be made within agreed payment terms or 30 days of 
receipt of invoices not in dispute for goods and services received. Average payment 

performance achieved for 2016-17 was 99.1% (2015-16 99.4%). In 2008-09 a 
voluntary initiative was introduced to improve payment performance further. Under 

this initiative, introduced by the SPCB in December 2008, we aim to make payment 
within 10 days of receipt of invoice to the supplier. In 2016-17 SPCB paid 95.8% of 
its invoices within 10 days (96.8% of its invoices paid within 10 days for 2015-16). 

 
Social and Community Issues 

 

The SPCB encourages public awareness and engagement with the parliamentary 
process. Since Her Majesty the Queen formally opened the Holyrood building on 9 

October 2004, over 4.3 million people have visited the Parliament, with 267,472 of 
those visiting during the financial year 2016-17.  
 
Environmental Performance 

 

The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body (SPCB) is committed to operating in a 
sustainable manner and seeks to improve its environmental performance year on 

year. It has a long term plan to reduce its carbon footprint by 42% by 2020, in line 
with the Scottish Government, and it is on track to achieve this with a 36% reduction 
in its emissions by March 2017 against a target of 36% from a baseline year of 2005-

06.  
 

Improvements in environmental performance have been achieved through the 
implementation of the Carbon Management Plan which was developed in 2013 and 
sets out a seven year programme of work and organisational change to reduce the 

SPCB’s carbon emissions.  The Carbon Management Plan is also supported by the 
RACE (Real Action on Carbon Emissions) programme, an employee led group of 

staff collaborating on climate change initiatives.  The Parliament’s Environmental 
Management System was successfully audited and re-certified to ISO 14001:2004 in 
June 2016. 

 
We achieved the Carbon Trust Triple Standard in 2016, which demonstrates our 

continued reduction in energy, water and waste.  
 
Our first Sustainable Travel Plan was published in September 2016 which details the 

current travel patterns of Scottish Parliament buildings users for business travel and 
commuting to and from the Parliament. It also sets out the plans and targets to 

increase sustainable travel options at the Scottish Parliament. 
 
Further information on environmental management at the Parliament can be found 

here: Environmental Management at the Scottish Parliament - Visit & Learn:  
Scottish Parliament. 

 

http://www.parliament.scot/visitandlearn/59138.aspx
http://www.parliament.scot/visitandlearn/59138.aspx
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Health and Safety 

 

The SPCB is committed to promoting health and safety as a priority issue. Its aim is 
to comply with and, where possible, deliver best practice, by taking appropriate and 
reasonable steps to ensure that it conducts its business in such a way that 

employees and other people who may be affected by its work are not exposed to 
risks to their health and safety. 

 
To deliver this policy, the SPCB has established a Fire, Health and Safety 
Committee, a Health and Safety Board; developed procedures necessary to form a 

robust Health and Safety management system (HSMS); has established a Fire 
Safety management system (FSMS) and has delivered a comprehensive fire and 

health and safety training programme. In line with the Parliament’s five year 
programme, two ‘Zone’ fire evacuation exercises took place over the year in order to 
test occupants’ response. Some minor amendments to our fire detection and alarm 

system have reduced the likelihood of the Scottish Fire and Rescue Service 
responding to our buildings during false alarm calls. 

 
In accordance with the SPCB’s health and safety audit plan, audits of x-ray baggage 
screening, hazardous substances, maintenance of hard landscaping and 

infrastructure were completed.  
 

During the reporting year, the Health and Safety Board maintained strategic 
oversight of the HSMS and reviewed H&S performance at its meetings. The 
Leadership Group carried out a formal annual review of the HSMS and Group Heads 

reported on health and safety performance to the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief 
Executive.” 

 
Human Rights and Equality 

  

Equality is one of the Parliament’s four founding principles and is integral to how the 
SPCB supports its Members; promotes good employment practices; and provides its 

services to the public. The SPCB’s Equalities Framework underpins this drive for 
equality and helps remove any barriers to participation or access to the Parliament 
particularly for groups who are protected by the Equality Act 2010.  The SPCB’s 

most recent Equality Monitoring Report is published on the Parliament website.  
 

Key highlights this year included the following. 
 

 The Parliament was recognised as a Carer Positive employer by Carers 

Scotland 

 The Maternity Mentors Network was refreshed and became the Parent 

Mentors Network. This network is explicit in the support available to all staff at 
the Parliament.  

 Nine of the apprentices who started in 2015 moved into permanent jobs this 
year. 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/19453.aspx
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 The Parliament continued to participate in Disabled Access Day, which is held 
in March, the Signing Choir came in to perform and tours were conducted in 

BSL.  

 The Diversity and Inclusion Strategy 2017 -21 was launched in February. A 

key feature of this ambitious strategy will be the creation of staff networks in 
the first year.   

 
Staff Communications 
 

In October 2016, Leadership Group agreed that the start of a new session offered a 
timely opportunity to review internal communications in the organisation and to 
investigate the benefits of adopting a new approach. Consequently, a working group 

was formed to conduct a review with the following remit: 
 

 reviewing the current internal communications plan, in an inclusive way, 
with Parliamentary staff and on-site contractors; 

 making recommendations for discussion with Leadership Group on a 

revised internal communications policy and plan; 

 individuals in the group taking part in or leading pieces of work that will 

help us meet our objectives; 

 agreeing what can be put in place within the short, medium and long term, 

by whom, and how this will be achieved; and  

 in doing all of the above, taking note of anything which affects other 

stakeholders to feed in to future communications work with them. 
 

It was agreed that the following was in the scope of the work to be undertaken: 

 

 corporate messages/approaches/products 

 upward communications channels/opportunities 

 Group Head/Office Head/ line management communications approaches 

and channels within groups (at a broad level) 

 project/programme communication plans 

 communications between teams, including those within the same Group 

 communications from networks 
 

The working group will report to Leadership Group in the autumn of 2017.  
 

Communications in the first part of 2017 have focussed on the changing 
constitutional situation with reference to the result of the Referendum on 

Membership of the European Union, further devolved powers and the Commission 
on Parliamentary Reform. There has also been extensive communications around 
organisational development for staff. 
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Important Events Occurring After Year End 

 

No important events have occurred since the year end that require disclosure or 
adjustment under the terms of IAS 10, Events after the Statement of Financial 
Position Date. In accordance with the requirements of IAS 10, Events after the 

Statement of Financial Position date are considered up to the date on which the 
accounts are authorised for issue. This is interpreted as the date on which the 

Independent Auditor’s Report is signed. 
 
External Audit 

 

The Accounts are audited by the Auditor General for Scotland in accordance with the 

Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. Audit Scotland carry out this 
work on behalf of the Auditor General for Scotland in accordance with the Code of 
Audit Practice. 2016-17 is the first year of a five year audit appointment for Audit 

Scotland. The audit costs for 2016-17 were £68,760 (2015-16 £66,880). 
 

Advisory Audit Board (AAB) 
 

The SPCB’s Advisory Audit Board supports the Principal Accountable Officer in 

monitoring and reviewing corporate governance, risk management and control 
systems. Membership of the AAB comprises three independent external members to 

help ensure objectivity, one of whom has the role of Chair, and two members from 
the SPCB. Both Linda Fabiani MSP and Liam McArthur MSP stood down in 2016-17 
and were succeeded as members of the AAB from 8 June 2016 by Alex Johnstone 

MSP and Gordon MacDonald MSP. Jackson Carlaw MSP succeeded Alex 
Johnstone MSP as a member of the AAB in November 2016. Members during the 

year to 31 March 2017 were: 
 
Jean Couper CBE (appointed 1 March 2012, Chair from 30 September 2014)  

Isobel Sharp CBE (appointed 1 June 2014, term ended 31 May 2017) 
George Thorley OBE (appointed 1 June 2014, term ended 31 May 2017) 

Linda Fabiani MSP (appointed 29 June 2011 to 12 May 2016) 
Liam McArthur MSP (appointed 29 June 2011 to 8 June 2016) 
Alex Johnstone MSP (appointed 8 June 2016 to 2 November 2016) 

Gordon MacDonald MSP (appointed 8 June 2016) 
Jackson Carlaw MSP (appointed 15 November 2016) 
 

Ian Robertson CA, CCMI, a former chair of the AAB, has been appointed as an 
independent expert on an interim basis from 1 July 2017 to 30 November 2017. 

Recruitment is underway for permanent members of the AAB. During the recruitment 
period for two new permanent members, the AAB has been at reduced capacity, 

which may have lessened its ability to support the Principal Accountable Officer. 
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STATEMENT OF THE SPCB’S AND PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTABLE OFFICER’S 
RESPONSIBILITIES 

 

The Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive is, by virtue of his appointment, 
Principal Accountable Officer for the SPCB. The responsibilities of the Principal 

Accountable Officer, including the responsibility for the propriety and regularity of the 
public finances for which the SPCB is answerable, for keeping of proper records and 

for safeguarding the SPCB’s assets, are set out in section 16 of the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. 
 

The Principal Accountable Officer has prepared a statement of accounts in the form 
and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction issued by Scottish Ministers. The 

accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and give a true and fair view of the 
SPCB's state of affairs and of its net resource outturn, application of resources, 
changes in taxpayers’ equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

 
In preparing the accounts the Principal Accountable Officer is required to comply 

with the requirements of the Government Financial Reporting Manual and in 
particular to: 
 

 Observe the accounts direction issued by Scottish Ministers including the relevant 
accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies on 

a consistent basis; 

 Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis; 

 State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Government 
Financial Reporting Manual have been followed, and disclose and explain any 
material departures in the accounts; and 

 Prepare the accounts on a going concern basis. 
 

As Principal Accountable Officer for the SPCB, I have taken all necessary steps to 
ensure that I am aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
auditors are also aware of this information. I confirm that the annual report and 

accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and I take personal 
responsibility for the annual report and accounts and judgements required for 

determining that the document is fair, balanced and understandable. 
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT  
 

Scope of Responsibility 
 

As Principal Accountable Officer, I am responsible for maintaining a sound system of 

corporate governance that supports the achievement of the policies, aims and 
objectives of the Parliament, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 

which I am responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. 
 
This includes ensuring that arrangements for delegation are robust and promote 

good management, supported by staff with an appropriate balance of skills and 
experience. Appropriate management systems and procedures are also essential to 

support service delivery. 
 
I am answerable to the Parliament for the exercise of these responsibilities. 

 
Governance Framework 

 

The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body (SPCB) 
 

The SPCB is the legal entity of the Parliament as provided for by the Scotland Act 
1998 (as amended). The SPCB provides the property, staff and services that are 

required for the Parliament’s purpose and performs any further functions that are 
enacted. The SPCB is elected by the Parliament in accordance with standing orders 
and comprises the Presiding Officer and five other Members from May 2016 (four 

other Members prior to May 2016). The SPCB typically meets fortnightly while the 
Parliament is in session. Meetings are attended by the Clerk/ to the Parliament and 

Chief Executive and senior officials.  
 
The SPCB has formally authorised the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive 

to carry out most of the day to day functions of the SPCB. 
 

The Leadership Group (LG) 
 
The role of LG is to support and advise the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief 

Executive in defining and delivering the goals and aims of the organisation and its 
priorities; developing the strategy to achieve these; and acting as a collective 

champion for them. 
 
LG advises the SPCB, via the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive, on 

budget and staffing levels which go forward to the SPCB for consideration and 
approval. LG further ensures that appropriate management systems are in place and 

are operating effectively to ensure compliance with statutory and regulatory duties, 
including promoting good practice in equalities, environmental management and 
other corporate policies to ensure effective governance across the organisation. 

 
Members of LG are the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive (Chair), 

Assistant Chief Executives, and Group Heads. LG meets typically fortnightly while 
the Parliament is in session.  
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Advisory Audit Board (AAB) 
 

The AAB considers, advises and reports on the SPCB’s arrangements for 
governance, finance, audit and risk. In particular, the AAB advises the Principal 
Accountable Officer on whether the necessary assurances required for signing the 

Governance Statement have been received. The AAB specifically considers the 
adequacy of internal controls (Financial management and otherwise); the 

assessment and management of risk; the planned activity of internal audit and 
results of its work; the planned activity of Audit Scotland and results of its work; and 
the adequacy of management responses to audit issues. The AAB meets quarterly 

and normally comprises two members of the SPCB and three independent persons, 
one of whom is chair. Independent persons are appointed following open competition 

based on their expertise and experience in governance, audit and public services. 
Current membership can be found at page 30. AAB membership has been quorate 
at all meetings including those since the financial year end. An experienced 

independent expert, Ian Robertson CA, CCMI  who is a former chair of the AAB, has 
been appointed on an interim basis from 1 July 2017 to 30 November 2017 and 

recruitment is currently underway for permanent members of the AAB. During the 
recruitment period for two new permanent members, the AAB has been at reduced 
capacity, which may have lessened its ability to support the Principal Accountable 

Officer. The AAB reports the findings of its work to the SPCB annually for the 
purposes of signing the annual report and accounts and at such other times as it 

considers necessary. 
 
Internal Audit 

 
The overall objective of internal audit is to provide independent assurance on the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the systems of governance and internal controls 
designed by LG to manage risk and enable the achievement of strategic goals, aims 
and priorities whilst ensuring accountability for public funds. 

 
Internal audit for the SPCB follows the principles of Public Sector Internal Audit 

Standards (PSIAS) and is provided by a full time Head of Internal Audit 
(approximately 200 days per annum) , with additional specialist support from a 
professional services firm on a call off basis (approximately 50 days per annum). 

Grant Thornton UK LLP was appointed to support the Head of Internal from July 
2016 following an open competitive tender process. Internal Audit support was 

provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP until July 2016. 
 
External Audit 

 
The Auditor General for Scotland is responsible for auditing the SPCB’s accounts. 

The Auditor General has appointed Audit Scotland to undertake the statutory audit of 
the SPCB and further assurance on the effectiveness of the system of internal control 
is received by the work of Audit Scotland through their management letters, reports 

and independent auditor’s report (page 53). 
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Assessment of Corporate Governance 

As Principal Accountable Officer, my assessment is that the corporate governance 
arrangements comply with generally accepted best practice principles and relevant 
guidance. In particular, the following processes and institutional arrangements have 

been established: 
 

 Strategic Plan 

On 8 June 2016, the SPCB approved The Scottish Parliament Strategic Plan. As 

the Parliament’s principal purpose (Representing the people of Scotland by 
debating issues of national importance, passing legislation and holding the 

Scottish Government to account) do not change over time, the Plan is not time 
limited. However, the Strategic Goals, Aims and Priorities set out in the Plan will 
change from time to time in order to ensure that the Parliament is at the forefront 

of political discourse in Scotland and remains relevant to the people of Scotland. 
We will therefore ensure, through regular review of the Strategic Plan, that the 

Parliament continues to meet the needs of our Members and the expectations of 
the people of Scotland;  
 

 Delivery Plan 

The Strategic Plan is supplemented by a Delivery Plan, which underpins the 
purposes, vision, strategic goals and aims of The Scottish Parliament. It is 
designed to link these features with performance and risk management. Each of 

the priorities for change within the Strategic Plan has been assigned to an 
individual Leadership Group member who has delegated responsibility for 

appropriate governance arrangements. The successful delivery of the plans and 
strategies is monitored quarterly by the SPCB; 
 

 Performance Measurement 

Fundamental to the successful achievement of the Strategic and Delivery Plans is 
the measurement and monitoring of performance. A quarterly reporting 
mechanism is in place, the Scottish Parliamentary Performance Report. The 

report measures performance against our Aims and Priorities for Change and 
comprises of high level strategic performance indicators to improve accountability 

and performance. The report also takes account of feedback from Members of the 
Parliament and reports the overall status for compliance in respect of Health and 
Safety; Fire Safety; Environment; Equalities and Freedom of Information, and 

strategic risk management;  
 

 Internal Control Environment 

Systems of internal control are designed to identify the principal risks to the 

achievement of goals, aims, priorities and objectives and to manage and mitigate 
these risks efficiently, effectively and economically. The SPCB’s assurance 

arrangements are designed to manage risk down to a reasonable level rather than 
eliminate risk altogether. Risk management can only provide reasonable and not 
absolute assurance of effectiveness. These arrangements have been in place for 
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the SPCB for the year ended 31 March 2017 and up to the date of approval of the 
annual accounts. These accord with the guidance set out in the Scottish Public 

Finance Manual (SPFM). Risks and internal controls are routinely reviewed by LG 
and are tested as part of the rolling internal audit programme. There were no 
significant internal control or risk management breaches identified during 2016-17; 

 

 Advisory Audit Board 

The AAB met four times in the year ended 31 March 2017 to offer advice and 
provide guidance to the SPCB on the quality and effectiveness of its governance, 

finance, audit and risk management arrangements. The AAB reviewed the 
external audit plan and approved the internal audit plan for 2016-17 and received 

regular progress reports on those plans from Audit Scotland and the SPCB’s Head 
of Internal Audit. The AAB sought and received necessary assurances from 
management, external auditors and the Head of Internal Audit and no significant 

control issues were identified by the AAB’s work; 
 

 Internal Audit 

A risk based internal audit plan providing for approximately 250 days of internal 

audit activity was prepared for 2016-17. Detailed reports were presented to the 
AAB by the Head of Internal Audit together with an independent opinion on the 

adequacy and effectiveness of the relevant internal control environment and any 
recommendations proposed for control enhancement. During 2016/17 internal 
audit work included reviews in the areas of reimbursement of Members’ expenses; 

purchasing and payments; payroll, cyber security maturity and data protection. 
 

Formal follow up arrangements of agreed audit recommendations were in place 
during the year thus ensuring that agreed audit recommendations were 
implemented appropriately. The overall conclusion from the work of internal audit 

for the year to 31 March 2016 is that a substantial level of assurance may be 
taken from the areas reviewed within the annual internal audit plan; 

 

 External Audit 

A new Audit Scotland team for the SPCB was appointed in October 2016 for the 5 
year period from 2016/17 to 2020/21 following the rotation of auditors of all public 

bodies in Scotland. In the course of their statutory audit of the SPCB, including 
further assurance work on the effectiveness internal of controls, Audit Scotland has 
not identified any major control weaknesses during the year; 

 

 General 

- Regular reports from managers on the steps they are taking to manage risks in 
their areas of responsibility including progress reports on key projects; 

 
- A policy on fraud prevention and whistle blowing, and guidance; 

 
- The SPCB complies with the principles of the Scottish Public Finance Manual; 
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- The SPCB has a dedicated set of Standing Financial Instructions “based on 
the Scottish Public Finance Manual” which contain financial policies and 

procedures that are specific to the SPCB; 
 
- The AAB reviews and recommends the accounts for approval including the 

Governance Statement; and 
 

- The SPCB approves the accounts including the Governance Statement. 
 
Assessment of Risk Management Arrangements 

 

As Principal Accountable Officer, my assessment is that the SPCB’s risk 

management arrangements comply with generally accepted best practice principles 
and relevant guidance. In particular, the following processes and institutional 
arrangements are in place: 

 

 Management of risk forms a key part of the SPCB’s strategic and delivery 

planning and is monitored and reported by way of a performance management 
framework. This brings together strategic and delivery planning and monitoring, 

strategic risk management and high level performance indicators which are 
designed as a tool for decision making and resource allocation. Within the 
overarching context of the Performance Report, risks for the SPCB are derived 

from, and link directly to, the strategic plan, the delivery plan, individual office 
plans, priorities for change and other major projects; 

 Corporate risks considered in detail by the Leadership Group in June 2016, 
October 2016 and February 2017; 

 The Corporate Risk Register identifies the risks which may act as barriers to the 

successful delivery of the Strategic and Delivery Plans for the Scottish 
Parliament. Each risk is scored in terms of likelihood and impact both before and 
after the application of the internal controls and management actions designed by 

LG to mitigate exposure to these risks. No residual risks were identified as high at 
31 March 2017; 

 Each strategic risk has been compared to an agreed level of tolerance that LG 
has set in order to assess the effectiveness of the internal controls and mitigating 

actions in place. During 2016/17, three risks (Failure to prepare for further 
reduction in resources and/or increased workload, unavailability of the Holyrood 
building and insufficient preparedness for attack on the Parliament’s 

infrastructure) while not assessed as being high overall, exceeded the very low 
tolerance levels set by Leadership Group for these risks. Arrangements to further 

mitigate the risks identified are in place and are overseen by the Strategic 
Resources Board and the Business Continuity Board respectively; 

 The principles of risk management and operational risk registers are used at 
office level as a key component of planning arrangements across the 

parliamentary service; and 
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 The risk register is used routinely by internal audit to ensure that audit and 
assurance activity focuses on key areas of risk.   

Assurances and Written Authorities 

Group Heads each sign a Certificate of Assurance for their areas of responsibility 
and accountability. These offer assurance on internal controls in respect of risk 

management, business planning, project management, financial management, fraud, 
procurement, human resources, equality and diversity and health and safety for their 
respective group or office. Confirmation for 2016-17, that controls have been, and 

are, working well within groups and offices, has been received and there were no 
significant matters arising. 

The SPCB is responsible for funding a number of Commissioner and Ombudsman 
bodies. These bodies were created by Acts of the Parliament and operate 

independently from the SPCB. As Principal Accountable Officer, I rely on the 
Accountable Officer for each of these bodies to be responsible for ensuring that an 

effective system of internal control is maintained and operated to safeguard the 
public funds and assets for which they are responsible. Each Officeholder has 
provided a written assurance of this for 2016-17. 

Personal Data Related Incidents 

There have been no personal data related incidents during 2016-17. 
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REMUNERATION AND STAFF REPORT  
 

The sections marked (Audited *) in this Remuneration and Staff Report are subject to 
a separate opinion by Audit Scotland. The other sections of the Remuneration and 
Staff report were reviewed by Audit Scotland to ensure they were consistent with the 

financial statements. 
 

Remuneration policy 
 

The remuneration for the Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive is set by the 

SPCB taking into account his role and responsibilities. Salaries for other senior staff 
form part of the pay settlement for all staff.  

 
From 2015-16, following a resolution of the Parliament on 17 March 2015 and which 
came into effect from 1 April 2015, MSP salaries were directly linked to public sector 

increases for public sector employees in Scotland. This was equivalent to a 0.7% 
pay increase for 2015-16 and excluding Employers National Insurance and pension 

contributions equated to a salary of £59,089. The salary for an MSP in 2016-17 was 
£60,685 which equated to a 2.7% increase on the 2015-16 rate. Pension benefits for 
MSPs and Office Holders are payable from the Scottish Parliamentary Pension 

Scheme (SPPS), and separate annual accounts are published for this on the 
Scottish Parliament website.  

 
In 2016-17 the SPCB comprised five MSPs and the Presiding Officer (2015-16 four 
MSPs and the Presiding Officer). The MSPs are elected by the Parliament and the 

Presiding Officer has membership in accordance with the Scotland Act. The SPCB 
members receive no additional remuneration for this role. Similarly, MSPs serving as 

Conveners to Parliamentary Committees do not receive any additional remuneration. 
The Presiding Officer and two Deputy Presiding Officers receive additional salary for 
delivery of their roles.  

 
In respect of ministers in the Scottish Government, the salary for their services as an 

MSP along with the supplementary element for ministerial appointment, are both 
paid by the SPCB. Disclosure on the ministerial element of salary and pension 
entitlements is contained within the Scottish Government Consolidated Accounts 

which can be accessed at The Scottish Government. These also include disclosure 
details on the two law officer appointments within Scotland (the Lord Advocate and 

the Solicitor General for Scotland). 
 
Under the various statutes establishing the Officeholders (Commissioners, the 

Ombudsmen and the Auditor General for Scotland) the SPCB is responsible for 
determining the salaries of each Officeholder.  Details of the salaries of each 

Officeholder are available in their own accounts. Officeholder salaries are uprated in 
line with the pay award for the Scottish Senior Civil Service.   
 

Service contracts 
 

Appointments of SPCB staff, on terms and conditions set by the SPCB, are made in 
accordance with SPCB recruitment policy which requires appointment to be on merit 

http://www.parliament.scot/
http://www.gov.scot/
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on the basis of fair and open competition but also includes the circumstances when 
appointments may otherwise be made. These principles are set out in our 

recruitment process and more information is available on the SPCB website 
recruitment pages.  
 

SPCB staff are not classified as civil servants but pension benefits are provided 
through the Civil Service Pension Scheme arrangements. 

 
Standing Orders provide for the nomination of individuals for appointment to an office 
by Her Majesty and by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body 

 
SPCB Appointments 

 
The Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body undertook an open recruitment exercise 
to appoint, with the agreement of the Parliament, two new members to the Standards 

Commission for Scotland to replace Ian Gordon and Matt Smith.  Mike McCormick 
was appointed on 1 February 2017 and Tricia Stewart was appointed on 1 April 

2017.  Both were appointed for a fixed term of 6 years.  In addition, the SPCB 
appointed one of the existing members of the Commission, Kevin Dunion as the 
Convener with effect from 1 February 2017.   

 
Appointments made by Her Majesty 

 
A cross-party selection panel, chaired by the Presiding Officer was established under 
the Parliament’s Standing Orders to find a successor for Jim Martin who demitted 

office on 30 April 2017 after serving 8 years as the Scottish Public Services 
Ombudsman.  The cross-party selection panel undertook an open recruitment 

exercise and sought the agreement of the Parliament to nominate Ms Rosemary 
Agnew to Her Majesty for appointment. Ms Agnew took up office as the Scottish 
Public Services Ombudsman on 1 May 2017 for a fixed term of 8 years. 

 
Another cross-party selection panel chaired by the Presiding Officer was established 

to find a successor for Tam Baillie who demitted office on 18 May 2017 after serving 
8 years as the Commissioner for Children and Young People in Scotland.  The 
cross-party selection panel undertook an open recruitment exercise and sought the 

agreement of the Parliament to nominate Bruce Adamson to Her Majesty for 
appointment. Mr Adamson took up appointment as the Commissioner for Children 

and Young People on 18 May 2017 for a fixed term of 6 years. 
 
A third cross-party selection panel was established to find a successor for Rosemary 

Agnew, the Scottish Information Commissioner who demitted office one year early 
on 30 April 2017 after serving 5 years to take up appointment as the Scottish Public 

Services Ombudsman on 1 May 2017.  The cross-party selection panel undertook an 
open recruitment exercise and sought the agreement of the Parliament to nominate 
Daren Fitzhenry to Her Majesty for appointment.  Mr Fitzhenry will take up 

appointment as the Scottish Information Commissioner on 16 October 2017 for a 
fixed term of 6 years.  During the vacancy in the office, the SPCB has appointed 

Margaret Keyse as the acting Scottish Information Commissioner. 

http://www.parliament.scot/abouttheparliament/12442.aspx
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Remuneration (salary and pensions)  
 

The following sections provide details of the remuneration and pension interests of 
senior staff and Officeholders. Those for senior staff are presented in banding 
ranges for salary and pension. Information for Officeholders is presented on actual 

salary figures and total remuneration to the nearest £1,000. Pension benefits 
represent the present value of future pension benefits accrued during the year. This 

data has been provided by My Civil Service Pension and validated by them.  Where 
there are large movements in the pension benefits this is usually associated with the 
impact of individual salary increases, the scheme that the individual belongs to and 

any individual contributions made by the employee. Further information on all the 
schemes is available on the civil service website in the scheme booklets.  

http://www.google.co.uk/url?url=http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/pensions/scheme-guides&rct=j&frm=1&q=&esrc=s&sa=U&ei=-tPDU-HfB4jy7AaxooGgCw&ved=0CBUQFjAA&usg=AFQjCNGi6HdbRcctFIUKD1l7w413NTDIlg
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Single total figure of remuneration (Audited *) 
 

Name and title Salary (£’000)  Pension benefits 

(£’000)* 

Total (£’000) 

 2016-17 2015-16 2016-17 2015-16 2016-17 2015-16 
SPCB senior staff 

Paul Grice 

Clerk to the 

Parliament and Chief 
Executive 

130-135 125-130 62 38 195-200 165-170 

Michelle Hegarty 

Assistant Chief 
Executive 

90-95 85-90 49 46 140-145 130-135 

Ken Hughes 

Assistant Chief 

Executive 

105-110 100-105 47 96 150-155 195-200 

David McGill 1 

Assistant Chief 

Executive 

85-90 75-80 65 62 150-155 140-145 

Alan Balharrie 

Head of Digital 
Services 

75-80 75-80 34 33 110-115 105-110 

Colin Chisholm 

Head of HR and FM 
75-80 75-80 32 32 110-115 105-110 

Derek Croll  

Head of Finance and 

Security 

75-80 75-80 20 20 95-100 95-100 

Susan Duffy 

Head of Committees 

and Outreach 

75-80 70-75 58 52 135-140 120-125 

Judith Morrison 2 

Head of Legal 

Services, 
Procurement and 
Audit 

70-75 
 

 

45-50 35 18 105-110 60-65 

Callum Thomson 

Head of  Research, 
Communication and 

Public Engagement 

70-75 65-70 37 31 105-110 95-100 

Tracey White 3 

Head of Chamber, 
Reporting and 

Broadcasting 

65-70 50-55 43 26 110-115 75-80 

 

                                                 
*
 The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension 

multiplied by 20 less the contributions made by the individual. The real increase excludes increases  
due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights. Changes to the 

balance for 2015-16 or negative results arise from retrospective updates to salary data by MyCSP.  
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Parliament office holders 

 Salary (£) Benefits in kind 

(to nearest 
£100) 

Pension 

benefits (to 
nearest 
£1,000)* 

Total (to nearest 

£1,000) 

 2016-
17 

2015-
16 

2016-
17 

2015-
16 

2016-
17 

2015-
16 

2016-
17 

2015-
16 

Ken 
Macintosh
4  

Presiding 

Officer 
 

40,456 0 0 0 16,000 0 56,000 0 

Linda 
Fabiani4 

Deputy 
Presiding 

Officer 
 

25,343 0 0 0 10,000 0 35,000 0 

Christine 
Graham4 

Deputy 
Presiding 

Officer 
 

25,343 0 0 0 10,000 0 35,000 0 

Tricia 

Marwick4 

Presiding 
Officer 
 

5,272 44,406 1,700 28,300 2,000 18,000 9,000 91,000 

John 
Scott4 

Deputy 
Presiding 
Officer 
 

3,302 27,816 0 0 3,000 10,000 6,000 38,000 

Elaine 
Smith4 

Deputy 
Presiding 
Officer 
 

3,302 27,816 0 0 3,000 11,000 6,000 39,000 

 

 

 
1 David McGill was in the post of Head of Chamber and Reporting between 31 

March 2015 and 31 May 2015 and on temporary promotion to Assistant Chief 
Executive from 1 June 2015 until December 2018. The full year equivalent salary 

of his post for 2015-16 was in the banding £80,000-£85,000.  
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2 Judith Morrison, previously on secondment from the Scottish Government to the 
SPCB, was appointed Head of Legal Services from 1 August 2015. The full year 

equivalent salary of her post in 2015-16 was in the banding £70,000-£75,000. The 
salary disclosed above only reflects the period where part of Leadership Group. 
 
3 Tracey White was appointed temporary Head of Chamber, Reporting and 
Broadcasting from 15 June 2015 until December 2018. The full year equivalent 

salary of the post in 2015-16 was in the banding £60,000-£65,000. The salary 
disclosed above only reflects the period where part of Leadership Group. 
 
4 Ken Macintosh was appointed Presiding Officer on 12 May 2016. The full year 
equivalent salary for the role of Presiding Officer was £45,605. Linda Fabiani and 

Christine Graham were appointed Deputy Presiding Officers on 12 May 2016. The 
full year equivalent salary for the role of Deputy Presiding Officer was £28,568. 
Tricia Marwick, John Scott and Elaine Smith served as Presiding Officer and 

Deputy Presiding Officers respectively until 12 May 2016. 
 

 Movement of former SPCB senior staff in 2015-16 can be found in the SPCB's 
2015-16 accounts. 

 

 Details of pensions and cash equivalent transfer values are disclosed based on 
information supplied by My Civil Service Pension for SPCB senior staff and by the 

Scottish Public Pensions Agency for Parliament Officeholders. 
 
 

Officeholders Severance (Audited *) 
 

As specified by the Scottish Parliamentary Pensions Act (SPPA) 2009, Tricia 

Marwick received a payment of £22,803 on leaving the office of the Presiding Officer. 
John Scott and Elaine Smith received payments of £7,142 each under the Act on 

leaving the office of Deputy Presiding Officer. 
 
 
Fair pay disclosure (Audited *) 
 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the salary of the 
highest paid senior member of staff in their organisation, the median salary of the 
organisation’s workforce and the salary range. The banded salary of the Clerk to the 

Parliament and Chief Executive in the financial year was £130,000-£135,000 (2015-
16 £125,000-£130,000). The mid-point of the salary band was 4.25 times the median 

salary of the workforce, which was £31,147 (2015-16 4.18 times, £30,536). There 
was an increase of £400 on all pay points below £22,000 per annum, an increase of 
1% on all pay points above £22,000 per annum, an additional 1% uplift on all salary 

band maximums from 1 April 2016. There were no staff salaries in excess of the 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive (£130,000-£135,000) with the lowest 

staff salary in 2016-17 being £20,687.  
 
 

 

http://www.parliament.scot/Financeresources/SPCB_Annual_Accounts_2015-16.pdf
http://www.parliament.scot/Financeresources/SPCB_Annual_Accounts_2015-16.pdf
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Salary 
 

Salaries in the above table are the amount earned in the financial year and include, 
where applicable, reserved rights, recruitment and retention allowances and any 
other allowance to the extent that is subject to UK taxation. They do not include 

National Insurance or Superannuation contributions. There are no performance 
bonuses as the scheme for payment of these ended in 2005-06. Salary disclosed in 

the table above for Parliament office holders excludes the MSP element and relates 
solely to the office. 
 

Benefits in kind 
 

Following a major illness, the SPCB provided the former Presiding Officer, Tricia 
Marwick, with temporary rented accommodation in Edinburgh in October 2013 to 
enable her to continue to undertake her duties as Presiding Officer of the Parliament. 

The cost to the SPCB of £1,018 (2015-16 £12,538) was met from the 
Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme disability provision and effectively 

and comparably replaced the provision for reimbursement of the cost of overnight 
accommodation in Edinburgh, to which the Presiding Officer would otherwise have 
been entitled under the Scheme. 

 
Unlike overnight accommodation assistance the costs in the above table for single 

total figure for remuneration for Parliament office holders are treated by HM Revenue 
and Customs as a taxable emolument chargeable to tax under s163 of the Income 
and Corporation Taxes Act 1988, which creates a personal tax liability on the benefit 

in kind arising from those above accommodation costs.  
 

The net personal tax liability to be reimbursed to the Presiding Officer amounts to 

£407 (2015-16 £9,135) with the gross tax cost to the SPCB, which forms part of the 
benefit in kind, of reimbursing her in respect of this arrangement amounting in total to 

£702 (2014-15 £15,751). 
 
Paul Grice was a member of the SPCB’s cycle to work scheme where an interest 

free loan of £600 was made for cycle purchase and repaid in instalments by 
November 2015. No other benefits in kind were paid to SPCB’s senior staff in 2016-

17 or 2015-16. 
 
Office holders 

 
In respect of office holders, the salary shown is that for the appointment itself 

together with related pension. Scottish Ministers’ disclosure is contained within the 
Scottish Government’s accounts.  The Presiding Officer’s and the Deputy Presiding 
Officers’ pension benefits are paid from the SPPS.  Their pensions accrue at the rate 

of either 1/40th or 1/50th of their final office holder pensionable earnings for each year 
that the office is held. There is no automatic lump sum but these office holders may 

commute some of their pension to provide a lump sum. 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17 

Accountability Report 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

45 
 

 

Pension Benefits (Audited *) 
 

Name and title Total 

accrued 
pension at 
pension age 

and related 
lump sum at 

31/3/16 

Real 

increase in 
pension and 
related lump 

sum at 
pension age 

CETV at 

31/3/17 
 

CETV at 

31/3/16 
 

Real 

increase 
in CETV 
as funded 

by 
employer 

SPCB senior staff 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
Paul Grice 

Clerk to the 

Parliament and 
Chief Executive 

50-55 
Plus lump 

sum of 155-
160 

2.5-5 
Plus lump 

sum of 7.5-
10 

1,098 995 55 

Michelle Hegarty 
Assistant Chief 
Executive 

15-20 2.5-5 287 240 30 

Ken Hughes 

Assistant Chief 

Executive 

55-60 
Plus lump 

sum of 165-
170 

0-2.5 
Plus lump 

sum of 5-7.5 

1,261 1,163 46 

David McGill 

Assistant Chief 
Executive 

30-35 

Plus lump 
sum of 75-
80 

2.5-5 

Plus lump 
sum of 2.5-5 

523 460 41 

Alan Balharrie 

Head of Digital 
Services 

15-20 

Plus lump 
sum of 40-

45 

0-2.5 

Plus lump 
sum of 0-2.5 

284 253 16 

Colin Chisholm 

Head of HR and 
FM 

15-20 0-2.5 260 220 22 

Derek Croll  

Head of Finance 
and Security 

15-20 
Plus lump 
sum of 45-

50 

0-2.5 
Plus lump 
sum of 2.5-5 

367 329 20 

Susan Duffy 

Head of 

Committees and 
Outreach 

20-25 
Plus lump 

sum of 55-
60 

2.5-5 
Plus lump 

sum of 2.5-5 

391 335 35 

Judith Morrison 

Head of Legal 

Services, 
Procurement and 

Audit 

20-25 0-2.5 310 275 20 

Callum Thomson  

Head of  
20-25 0-2.5 282 251 17 
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Research, 
Communication 
and Public 

Engagement 
Tracey White 

Head of Chamber, 

Reporting and 
Broadcasting 

20-25 0-2.5 360 315 28 

      

Parliament office holders 

 Total 

accrued 
pension at 
age 65 as at 

31/3/17 

Real 

increase in 
pension at 
age 65 

CETV at 

31/3/17 
 

CETV at 

31/3/16 

Real 

increase 
in CETV  

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
      
Ken Macintosh 

Presiding Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 15 0 11 

Linda Fabiani 

Deputy Presiding 

Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 11 0 8 

Christine Graham 

Deputy Presiding 

Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 12 0 9 

Tricia Marwick 

Presiding Officer 
 

5-10 0-2.5 104 98 5 

John Scott 

Deputy Presiding 
Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 68 65 3 

Elaine Smith 

Deputy Presiding 
Officer 
 

0-5 0-2.5 50 47 3 

 
 

Cash Equivalent Transfer Values (CETV) 

 
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the 

pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.  The 
benefits valued are the member’s accrued benefits and any contingent spouse’s 
pension payable from the scheme.  A CETV is a payment made by a pension 

scheme or arrangement to secure pension benefits in another pension scheme or 
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arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to transfer the 
pension benefits they have accrued in their former scheme. The pension figures 

shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a consequence of 
their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service in a senior 
capacity to which the disclosure applies.  

 
The figures include the value of any pension benefit in another scheme or 

arrangement which the member has transferred to the Civil Service pension 
arrangements. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued to the 
scheme member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 

the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated in accordance with The 
Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008 

and do not take account of any actual or potential reduction to benefits resulting from 
Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when pension benefits are taken. 
 
Real Increase in CETV  
 

CETV movement may comprise of a number of components such as the age of the 
individual, inflation, contributions by the employer and the employee, and 
performance of the fund where relevant. The real increase in CETV reflects the 

increase effectively funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the 

value of any benefits transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and 
uses common market valuation factors for the start and end of the period.  
 

Pensions 
 

Pension benefits for SPCB employees are provided through the Civil Service 
pension arrangements. From 1 April 2015 a new pension scheme for civil servants 
was introduced – the Civil Servants and Others Pension Scheme (CSOPS) or 
Alpha, which provides benefits on a career average basis with a normal pension age 

equal to the member’s State pension Age (or 65 if higher). From that date all newly 
appointed SPCB and the majority of those already in service joined Alpha.  Prior to 

that date, SPCB employees participated in the Principal Civil Service Pension 
Scheme (PCSPS).  The PCSPS has four sections: 3 providing benefits on a final 
salary basis (Classic, Premium or Classic Plus) with a normal pension age of 60; 
and one providing benefits on a whole career basis (Nuvos) with a normal pension 

age of 65.  
 
These statutory arrangements are unfunded with the costs of benefits met by monies 
voted by the UK Parliament each year. Pensions payable under Classic, Premium, 
Classic Plus, Nuvos and Alpha are increased annually in line with changes in 

Pensions Increase legislation. Existing members of the PCSPS who were within 10 
years of their normal pension age on 1 April 2012 remained in the PCSPS after 1 
April 2015.  Those who were between 10 years and 13 years and 5 months from 
their normal pension age on 1 April 2012 will switch into Alpha sometime between 1 
June 2015 and 1 February 2022. All members who switch to Alpha have their 

PCSPS benefits ‘banked’, with those with earlier benefits in one of the final salary 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Report and Accounts 2016-17 

Accountability Report 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

48 
 

 

sections of the PCSPS having those benefits based on their final salary when they 
leave Alpha. (The pension figures quoted for officials show pension earned in 

PCSPS or Alpha – as appropriate.  Where the official has benefits in both the 
PCSPS and Alpha the figure quoted is the combined value of their benefits in the 

two schemes.)  Members joining from October 2002 may opt for either the 

appropriate defined benefit arrangement or a ‘money purchase’ stakeholder pension 
with an employer contribution (Partnership pension account). 

 
Employee contributions are salary-related and range between 3% and 8.05% of 
pensionable earnings for members of Classic (and members of Alpha who were 

members of Classic immediately before joining Alpha) and between 4.6% and 
8.05% for members of Premium, Classic Plus, Nuvos and all other members of 

Alpha. Benefits in Classic accrue at the rate of 1/80th of final pensionable earnings 

for each year of service.  In addition, a lump sum equivalent to three years initial 
pension is payable on retirement. For Premium, benefits accrue at the rate of 1/60th 

of final pensionable earnings for each year of service. Unlike Classic, there is no 
automatic lump sum. Classic Plus is essentially a hybrid with benefits for service 

before 1 October 2002 calculated broadly as per Classic and benefits for service 
from October 2002 worked out as in Premium. In Nuvos a member builds up a 

pension based on his pensionable earnings during their period of scheme 

membership. At the end of the scheme year (31 March) the member’s earned 
pension account is credited with 2.3% of their pensionable earnings in that scheme 

year and the accrued pension is uprated in line with Pensions Increase legislation.  
Benefits in Alpha build up in a similar way to Nuvos, except that the accrual rate in 

2.32%.  In all cases members may opt to give up (commute) pension for a lump sum 

up to the limits set by the Finance Act 2004. 
 

The partnership pension account is a stakeholder pension arrangement.  The 

employer makes a basic contribution of between 3% and 12.5% up to 30 September 

2015 and 8% and 14.75% from 1 October 2015 (depending on the age of the 
member) into a stakeholder pension product chosen by the employee from a panel 

of providers. The employee does not have to contribute, but where they do make 
contributions, the employer will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable salary 
(in addition to the employer’s basic contribution).  Employers also contribute a further 

0.8% of pensionable salary up to 30 September 2015 and 0.5% of pensionable 
salary from 1 October 2015 to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk benefit cover 

(death in service and ill health retirement). 
 

The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member is entitled to receive when 
they reach pension age, or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of the 

scheme if they are already at or over pension age.  Pension age is 60 for members 
of Classic, Premium and Classic Plus, 65 for members of Nuvos, and the higher 

of 65 or State Pension Age for members of Alpha.  (The pension figures quoted for 
officials show pension earned in PCSPS or Alpha – as appropriate.  Where the 
official has benefits in both the PCSPS and Alpha the figure quoted is the combined 

value of their benefits in the two schemes, but note that part of that pension may be 

payable from different ages.) 
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The Commissioners and Ombudsman are members of the Civil Service pension 
arrangements.   

 
Further details about the Civil Service pension arrangements can be found at the 
website http://www.civi lservice.gov.uk/my-civil-service/pensions/index.aspx 

 
The pension scheme rules for MSPs and office holders (including the Lord Advocate 

and the Solicitor General for Scotland) were initially set out in The Scotland Act 1998 
(Transitory and Transitional Provisions)(Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme) 
Order 1999 (“the 1999 Order”).  The 1999 Order was subsequently replaced by the 

Scottish Parliamentary Pensions Act 2009 (“the 2009 Act”) from 1 September 2009 
and the replacement pension scheme rules are now set out under Schedule 1 of the 

2009 Act. 
 
The main benefits of the scheme are a pension of 1/50 th or 1/40th of final salary for 

each year of service on retirement at age 65. Pensions are increased annually in line 
with changes in the Consumer Prices Index. Members accruing benefits at the rate 

of 1/40th pay a contribution equivalent to 11% of their MSP/office holder salary.  
Members accruing benefits at the rate of 1/50th pay a contribution equivalent to 6% 
of their MSP/office holder salary.  The SPCB pays the employer contribution 

representing the balance of cost as advised by the Government Actuary. For 2016-
17 the contribution rate was 20.2% of pensionable salary (20.2% 2015-16).  
 
Staff Report 
 

Staff costs, numbers and composition (Audited *) 
 

Staff pay costs consist of:  

   2016-17 2015-16 

   £'000  £'000 
   

Total Total 
Salaries     

 SPCB  19,306 19,907 
 Seconded staff  650 686 

Social security costs    
 SPCB  1,793 1,314 
 Seconded staff  83 68 

Other pension costs    
 SPCB  3,619 3,476 

 Seconded staff  153 196 
     
SPCB Salary Cost per Note 

3 to the Accounts 25,604 25,647 
 

SPCB Staff salary costs include £1,037k of Contractors costs and £555k of Agency 
costs. 
 

Information on MSP and Ministers salaries can be found in Note 3 to the Accounts. 

http://www.civilservice.gov.uk/my-civil-service/pensions/index.aspx
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si1999/19991082.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si1999/19991082.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/si/si1999/19991082.htm
http://www.opsi.gov.uk/legislation/scotland/acts2009/asp_20090001_en_1
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The average number of whole-time equivalent persons employed (including senior 
management) during the year was as follows: 

   
   2016-17 

Total 
2015-16 

Total 

     
SPCB staff  460 448 

Seconded  staff  12 14 
Contractor staff  14 15 
Agency staff  15 33 

Total staff  501 510 

 
During 2016-17 the number of agency, contractor and seconded staff reduced and 
staff employed by the SPCB increased.  

 
Information on MSP and Ministerial numbers can be found in Note 3 to the Accounts. 

 
The SPCB is, as defined in the Scotland Act 1998 S.21, the Presiding Officer and 5 
elected Members (see Report of the Corporate Body for detail). Apart from the 

Presiding Officer, they do not receive remuneration for carrying out the functions of 
the SPCB. All senior managers are staff of the SPCB. 

 
A breakdown at the end of the financial year of the number of persons of each 
gender who were SPCB members, senior managers and employees of the SPCB is 

set out below: 
 

 Male Female Total 
SPCB members 6 (100%)         0 (0%)           6 (100%) 
Senior management       7 (64%) 4 (36%) 11 (100%) 

Employees (excluding 
above) 

231 (46%) 270 (54%) 501 (100%) 

 
Sickness absence data 
 

For the 12 month period from 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2017, an average of 6.48 

(2015-16 7.01) working days per member of staff were lost as a result of sickness 
absence. 

 
Employment of Disabled persons 

 

The Parliament is committed to having a diverse workforce and values the 
contribution of all staff. When asked to report on a disability for the annual 

Employment Monitoring Report, 7.5% staff reported they had a disability.  The 
Parliament actively welcomes disabled people to apply for roles at the Parliament  
through its Accessibility commitment and works to ensure that there are no barriers 

in the way preventing access to employment.  Disabled people are guaranteed an 
interview if they meet the essential requirements for the post they have applied for. 

The Parliament makes this commitment under the ‘Disability Confident’ scheme.    

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/19453.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/Recruitment/Accessibility_SP_2015.pdf
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The following policies further demonstrate the commitment to supporting disabled 
people to work and in their career development at the Parliament:  Mental Health 

and Well-Being Policy, Dignity at Work Policy,  Guidance for Line Managers - 
Supporting Disabled Staff in the Workplace 
 

Once in employment, the Parliament provides support through a range of measures 
including; adjustments to working patterns or hours; changes to the physical layout 

of the working environment; acquiring or modifying equipment such as changes to 
equipment used within the office or working space; and providing assistive 
technology such as keyboards, cursors, voice activated software etc. The Parliament 

further provides support through training in and awareness raising of disabilities for 
all staff. In the coming year staff will be further supported by the Disability Network 

and the Mental Health Network.  
 
The SPCB’s Code of Conduct applies to all above.  

 
Expenditure on consultancy 

 
During 2016-17 £602,000 was spent on external consultancy including general and 
property advisors (£614,000 2015-16). Expenditure in 2016-17 included IT advice for 

the digital workplace, infrastructure refresh, and infrastructure and apps roadmap IT 
projects, and property advice relating to chamber lighting, roof anchors and other 

facilities management change projects.    
 
 

 
 

http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/31663.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/31663.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/16483.aspx
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2013_08_23_FINAL_line_managers_guidance_on_disability.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/StaffAndManagementResources/2013_08_23_FINAL_line_managers_guidance_on_disability.pdf
http://www.scottish.parliament.uk/abouttheparliament/26069.aspx
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PARLIAMENTARY ACCOUNTABILITY DISCLOSURES 

 
Losses and special payments 
 

There were no individual losses or special payments in excess of £250,000 which 

would require separate disclosure in either 2016-17 or 2015-16. 
 
Remote contingent liabilities 
 

Contingent liabilities that meet the disclosure requirements in IAS 37 Provisions & 

Contingent Liabilities are included in Note 19 of the Notes to the Accounts. There are 
no remote contingent liabilities to disclose. 

 
 

 
 

P E GRICE       Date:  21 September 2017 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive   
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
Report of the Auditor General for Scotland to the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate 
Body and Scottish Parliament 
 
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public 

Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with 
paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, I do not undertake to have responsibilities to members 
or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties. 

 
Report on the audit of the financial statements 
 
Opinion on financial statements  
 
I have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of the Scottish 

Parliamentary Corporate Body for the year ended 31 March 2017 under the Public Finance and 
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000. The financial statements comprise the Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure, the Statement of Financial Position, the Statement of Cash Flows, 

the Statement of Changes in Taxpayers’ Equity and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that  has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as 

adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 Government 
Financial Reporting Manual (the 2016/17 FReM). 

In my opinion the accompanying financial statements:  

 give a true and fair view in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 

Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers of the state of the body's 

affairs as at 31 March 2017 and of its net expenditure for the year then ended; 

 have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, 

as interpreted and adapted by the 2016/17 FReM; and 

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Public Finance and 

Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers . 

 
Basis of opinion  

 
I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing in the 
UK and Ireland (ISAs (UK&I)). My responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of my report. I am 
independent of the body in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of 
the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for 

Auditors, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. I 
believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
opinion. 

 
Responsibilities of the SPCB and Principal Accountable Officer for the financial statements 
 

As explained more fully in the Statement of the SPCB's and Principal Accountable Officer's 
Responsibilities, the Principal Accountable Officer is responsible for the preparation of financial 
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for 

such internal control as the Principal Accountable Officer determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 
 

My responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable legal requirements and ISAs (UK&I) as required by the Code of Audit Practice. Those 
standards require me to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for Auditors. 

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements 
sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the 

accounting policies are appropriate to the body's circumstances and have been consistently applied 
and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the 
Principal Accountable Officer; and the overall presentation of the financial statements.  

 
My objectives are to achieve reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 

report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK&I) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material 

if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.  
 

Other information in the annual report and accounts 
 
The Principal Accountable Officer is responsible for the other information in the annual report and 
accounts. The other information comprises the information other than the financial statements and my 

auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and I do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on certain matters to the 
extent explicitly stated later in this report. 

 
In connection with my audit of the financial statements in accordance with ISAs (UK&I), my 
responsibility is to read all the financial and non-financial information in the annual report and 

accounts to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any 
information that is apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the 
knowledge acquired by me in the course of performing the audit. If I become aware of any apparent 

material misstatements or inconsistencies, I consider the implications for my report. 
 
Report on regularity of expenditure and income  
 
Opinion on regularity  

 
In my opinion in all material respects:  

 the expenditure and income in the financial statements were incurred or applied in 

accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish Ministers, 
the Budget (Scotland) Act covering the financial year and sections 4 to 7 of the Public 

Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000; and 

 the sums paid out of the Scottish Consolidated Fund for the purpose of meeting the 

expenditure shown in the financial statements were applied in accordance with section 65 of 

the Scotland Act 1998. 

 
Responsibilities for regularity  

 
The Principal Accountable Officer is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and 
income. I am responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income in 

accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.  
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Report on other requirements  
 
Opinions on other prescribed matters  
 
In my opinion, the auditable part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in 

accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and directions made 
thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.  

In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit  

 the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and 

directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers; and 

 the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report 
has been prepared in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 

2000 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Ministers.  

Matters on which I report by exception 

I report to you if, in my opinion:  

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; or 

 the financial statements and the auditable part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not 

in agreement with the accounting records; or 

 I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit.  

 
I have nothing to report in respect of these matters.  

 
 
 

 
 
 

         
 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 

Caroline Gardner  

Auditor General for Scotland  
102 West Port  

Edinburgh  
EH3 9DN  
 

29 September 2017 
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE NET EXPENDITURE 
For the year ended 31 March 2017 

 
 

   2016-17  2015-16 

      

 Note  £'000  £'000 

Administration costs      

      

Staff and members’ salaries 3  39,602  37,021 

Other administration costs 5  36,893  34,680 

Depreciation and impairment 7,8  11,391  10,435 

Other related parties 20  8,413  8,232 

      

Gross administration costs   96,299  90,368 

      

Operating income 6  (696)  (754) 

      

Net operating expenditure 2  95,603  89,614 

      
Other comprehensive 

expenditure      

      
Net (gain)/loss on revaluation of 
property, plant and equipment 7  (12,862)  (2,801) 
 

Net (gain)/loss in respect of 
realised element of revaluation 
reserve   276  - 
 

Net (gain)/loss on pension 
reserves 4  9,885  (4,476) 

      

Total comprehensive 
expenditure   92,902  82,337 

      

      

  
 
   

      

 
 
The notes on pages 60 to 75 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 31 March 2017 

   31 March 2017  31 March 2016  

       

  Note £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000  

         

Non-current assets:  

Property, plant and equipment 7 305,806   302,082   

Intangible assets  8 123   199   

Total non-current assets    305,929   302,281  
         

Current assets         

Inventories  9 231   246   

Trade and other receivables  10 1,571   1,249   

Cash and cash equivalents 11 1,390   1,855  
 

Total current assets    3,192   3,350  

Total assets    309,121   305,631  

         

Current liabilities       
 

Trade and other payables (w ithin 1 year) 12 (7,698)   (8,431)  
 

Total current liabilities   (7,698)   (8,431) 
 

 
Total assets less current liabilities   301,423   297,200 

 

         

Non-current liabilities         

Other payables 13 -   -  
 

Provisions – restructuring 13,14 (13)   (46)  
 

Members’ pension liabilities 15 (28,870)   (15,921)  
 

Total non-current liabilities    (28,883)   (15,967)  

         

Assets less liabilities    272,540   281,233  

         

Taxpayers' equity        
 

General fund    227,618   235,948  

Revaluation reserve   73,792   61,206 
 

Pension reserve   (28,870)   (15,921) 
 

Total taxpayers’ equity    272,540   281,233  

 
 

The Principal Accountable Officer authorised these financial statements for issue on 21 September 2017. The financial 
statements on pages 56 to 59 were approved by the Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body on 21 September 2017.    

 
 
P E GRICE       Date: 21 September 2017 
Clerk to the Parliament and Chief Executive      
The notes on pages 60 to 75 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 31 March 2017 

  Note 2016-17  2015-16 

      

   £'000  £'000 

Cash flow from operating activities      

Net operating cost   (95,603)  (89,614) 

      

Adjustments for non-cash items      

Non-cash charges  21 3,140  3,629 

Depreciation and impairment  7,8 11,391  10,435 

Income from donated artw ork  6 (4)  (26) 

Movements in working capital      

(Increase)/decrease in inventories  9 15  12 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables  10 (322)  (111) 

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables  12 35  (375) 

Movements in provisions      

Increase/(decrease) in provisions   13,14 (667)  (63) 

Net cash outflow from operating activities   (82,015)  (76,113) 

      

Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchase of property, plant and equipment  7 (1,806)  (1,015) 

Income from disposal of property, plant and equipment  7 9  - 

Purchase of intangible assets  8 (53)  (70) 

Net cash outflow from investing activities   (1,850)  (1,085) 

      

Net cash requirement   (83,865)  (77,198) 

      

Cash flows from financing activities      

Financing from the Consolidated Fund   83,400  77,350 

      

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (465)  152 

     

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 April   11 1,855  1,703 

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 March   11 1,390  1,855 
 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   (465)  152 

 
The notes on pages 60 to 75 form part of these accounts. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS’ EQUITY  
For the year ended 31 March 

2017 

 

  
 
 

 

 

 

 

Note 

General 

fund 

 
Revaluation 

reserve 

 
Pension 

reserve 

Total 

reserves 

 
 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

 
 

     

Balance at 1 April 2015 
 

 244,766 58,415 (16,876) 286,305 
 
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2015-16 

 
     

 

Indexation of property, plant and equipment 

 

     

Buildings and f ixed plant 
 

7  2,801  2,801 
 
Transfer in respect of donated artwork previously 
recorded as purchased artwork  

 

 10 (10)  - 

Net movement  in pension reserve 
 

15   4,476 4,476 

Non-cash charges – auditor remuneration 
 

21 67   67 

Movement in cash balances 
 

11 (152)   (152) 

Net operating cost 
 

 (86,093)  (3,521) (89,614) 

Net funding 
 

 77,350   77,350 

 
 

     

Balance at 31 March 2016 
 

 235,948 61,206 (15,921) 281,233 

 
 

     
Changes in taxpayers’ equity for 2016-17 

 
 

 

     

Indexation of Buildings and Fixed Plant 
 

7  12,862  12,862 
 
Transfer in respect of realised element of 

revaluation reserve 

 

7 276 (276)  - 
 
Net movement  in pension reserve 

 
15   (9,885) (9,885) 

Non-cash charges – auditor remuneration 
 

21 68   68 

Movement in cash balances 
 

11 465   465 

Net operating cost 
 

 (92,539)  (3,064) (95,603) 

Net funding 
 

 83,400   83,400 

 
 

     

Balance at 31 March 2017 
 

 227,618 73,792 (28,870) 272,540 

 
 
 

The notes on pages 60 to 75 form part of these accounts
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS 
 
1. Statement of accounting policies 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance w ith the 2016-17 UK Government Financial Reporting Manual 

(FReM). The accounting policies contained in the FReM apply International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adapted 
or interpreted for the public sector context. Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy w hich 
is judged to be most appropriate to the particular circumstances of the SPCB for the purposes of giving a true and fair view  has 
been selected. The particular policies adopted by the SPCB are described below . They have been applied consistently in 

dealing w ith items considered material to the accounts. 
 
a. Accounting Convention 
 

The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modif ied to account for the revaluation of property, plant 
and equipment, f inancial instruments and inventories w here material, at their value by reference to their current costs. 
 

b. Property, Plant and Equipment (PPE) 
 
The SPCB hold the legal title to all land, buildings and f ixed plant show n in the accounts.  
 

For land, buildings and f ixed plant, the minimum level for capitalisation of spend is the greater of £10,000 or 0.5% of asset 
value, provided it is probable that the spend w ill bring future economic benefits. For other asset categories, the minimum level 
for capitalisation of spend is £5,000, including grouped value of related asset purchases. Furniture, f ixtures and f ittings are not 
capitalised.  

 
Land, buildings and f ixed plant have been valued on a depreciated replacement cost basis for specialised buildings and w ill be 
revalued at current cost using professional valuations every 5 years. Appropriate indices w ill be used in intervening years. The 
f irst valuation occurred during 2004-05, w hen the Holyrood complex became operational and w as professionally valued on a 

depreciated replacement cost (DRC) basis. The second professional valuation of the Holyrood complex on a DRC basis took 
place during 2009-10, and the third professional valuation of the Holyrood complex on a DRC basis took place during 2014-15. 
Please see note 7 for further information.  
 

Artw ork and donated assets are professionally valued on the basis of Insurance every 5 years. The f irst valuation occurred 
during 2004-05, the second professional valuation took place during 2009-10, and the third professional valuation took place 
during 2014-15.  

 
All other assets are reported at depreciated historic cost.  
 
Donated assets are capitalised at current value on receipt and income is recognised in the year of receipt. 

c. Intangible assets 

 
In accordance w ith the FReM, Intangible assets are accounted for in line w ith the requirements of IAS 38 Intangible Assets . 
 

Where an active market does not exist, income generating assets are valued at the low er of depreciated replacement cost and 
value in use. Non income generating assets are carried at depreciated replacement cost.  These valuation methods are 
considered to be a proxy for fair value.  
 

Future economic benefit has been used as the criteria in assessing w hether an intangible asset meets the definition and 
recognition criteria of IAS 38 Intangible Assets for assets that do not generate income. IAS 38 defines future economic benefit 
as ‘revenue from the sale of products or services, cost savings, or other benefits resulting from the use of the asset by the 

entity.’  
 
Intangible assets other than assets under development are amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives. 
Intangible assets under development are not amortised.  

 
d. Depreciation and amortisation 
 
Land, historic documents and records and w orks of art are not depreciated. Assets under construction are depreciated w hen 

they are brought into use.  
 
Depreciation has been provided at rates calculated to w rite off the valuation of Property, Plant and Equipment assets by equal 
instalments over their estimated useful lives w hich are normally in the follow ing ranges:  

 
  Holyrood building      44.5 years 
  Holyrood f ixed plant      2.5-15 years 

  Equipment and vehicles     5 years 
  IT systems      3 years  
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Amortisation is provided at rates calculated to w rite off the valuation of Intangible assets by equal instalments over their 
estimated useful lives w hich are normally in the follow ing range: 
 

  IT softw are      3 years 
 
e. Realised element on depreciation of revaluation reserve  
 

Depreciation is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure on the revalued amount of the relevant assets. An 
element of depreciation arises from the increase in valuation and is in excess of  the depreciation that w ould be charged on the 
historic cost of the relevant assets. The amount relating to this excess is the realised gain on revaluation and is transferred from 

the revaluation reserve to the general fund. 

    
f. Inventories 
 
All inventories held are stated at the low er of cost and net realisable value. 

 
g. Trade Receivables 
 
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allow ance for any uncollectable amounts. A 

provision for impairment of trade receivables is established w here there is observable evidence that the SPCB w ill not be able 
to collect all amounts due according to original terms. Trade receivable balances are w ritten off w hen the SPCB determines 
that it is unlikely that future remittances w ill be received.  
 

h. Trade and other payables 
 
Trade and other payables are stated at cost. 

 
i. Foreign Exchange 
 
Transactions w hich are denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling at the exchange rate ruling on the date of 

each transaction, except where rates do not f luctuate signif icantly, in w hich case an average rate for a period is used.  Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year -end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure. 

 

j. Operating Income 

 
Operating income is income that relates directly to the operating activities of the SPCB and is therefore recognised as revenue 
in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure. Income is stated excluding VAT. 

 
k. Pensions 
 

 The Civil Service Pension Arrangements  
 

Staff employed directly by the SPCB and the Parliamentary Commissioners and Ombudsman and their staff are 
members of  either the Civil Service and Others Pension Scheme or Alpha w hich w as introduced from 1 April 2015. 

Prior to that date employees participated in the Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) . These statutory 
arrangements are  unfunded multi-employer defined benefit schemes  and the SPCB is unable to identify its share of 
the underlying assets and liabilities and therefore there is no liability in the Statement of Financial Position. The cost 

of benefits is met by monies voted by the UK Parliament each year. Details can be found in the separate scheme 
statement of the Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation (Civil Service Pensions). 
 
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the f inancial statements do not differ materially from those 

that w ould be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period 
betw een formal actuarial valuations shall be four years, w ith approximate assessments in intervening years”. 
 
The last formal valuation undertaken for the PCSPS w as published in July 2014 for the position as at 31 March 2012. 

The primary purpose of the formal actuarial valuations is to set employer and employee contribution rates. 
 
 
 The Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme (SPPS)  

  
Originally, the pension scheme for the Members of the Parliament and Office Holders w as established under the 
Scotland Act 1998 (Transitory and Transitional provisions) (Scottish Par liamentary Pension Scheme) Order 1999 (S.I. 

No.1082). Due to a number of signif icant legislative changes affecting all UK pension schemes a new  Scottish 
Parliamentary Pensions Act 2009 w as established with new scheme rules, coming into force from 1 September 2009. 
The scheme is a defined benefit scheme, and applies to the salary of members, to any ministerial salary and the 
salary of the Lord Advocate and Solicitor General for Scotland. The cost of pension cover provided for the MSPs is 

by payment of charges calculated on an accruing basis, w ith liability for payment of future benefits charged to the 
Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme (SPPS). Any liabilities of the fund arising from a deficit on assets w ill be met 
through increased funding. The liability for this w ill be met by the SPCB through the Scottish Consolidated Fund. 

 

http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/about-us/resource-accounts
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l. Leases 

Where substantially all the risks and rew ards of ownership of a leased property are borne by the entity, it should be recorded as 
a non-current asset and a corresponding creditor recorded in respect of the debt due to the lessor, w ith the interest element of 

the f inance lease payment charged to the outturn statement.  Rentals payable in respect of operating leases should be charged 
to the outturn statement on a straight line basis over the term of the lease. The SPCB had no f inance leases in 2016-17 or 
2015-16. 

 

m.  Value Added Tax (VAT) 
 
The SPCB is treated as a Crow n Body for the purposes of the Value Added Tax Act 1994 and accordingly for the purposes of 

Section 41 of that Act (application to the Crow n) it is treated as a government department, and is exempt for VAT on the 
provision of parliamentary goods and services. The SPCB is standard rated for VAT on its trading activities, such as the 
Parliament shop. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated excluding VAT. 
 

n. Impending application of newly issued accounting standards not yet effective  
 

At 31 March 2017 there w ere no relevant accounting standards w hich had not been applied in the f inancial statements, or 
w hich w ould have an impact on the 2016-17 f inancial statements. 

 
o. Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme  
 
By virtue of sections 81(2) (5) (6) and 83 (5) of the Scotland Act 1998, the SPCB reimburses members in respect of expenses 

or costs incurred in each f inancial year in accordance w ith the Reimbursement of Members’ Expenses Scheme, subject to the 
various limits on expenses or costs under the Scheme.  
 
p. Accounting estimates 
 
The accounting for pensions and indexation movements for buildings and f ixed plant are areas in w hich accounting estimates 
may change. The carrying amount of the pension liability may change as a result of  the Government Actuary’s reassessment of 

the expected future benefits and obligations associated w ith the pension liability. Full information is disclosed in note 4. The 
Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors provide the indices w hich w e use for  
the indexation of Buildings and Fixed Plant. These indices are updated regularly and their value may rise or fall.The indexation 
of Buildings and Fixed Plant is disclosed in note 7.       
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2. Summary of Outturn against Budget  

 

A. Summary of Outturn against Resource Budget  
  
 2016-17 2015-16 
 Budget Outturn Variance Budget Outturn Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
       
Net Operating Cost (Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure) (i) 

98,323 95,603 2,720 91,233 89,614 1,619 

Capital – Purchase of non-current 
assets  (Notes 7 and8)  (ii) 

1,500 2,190 (690) 1,200 1,156 44 

Total outturn 99,823 97,793 2,030 92,433 90,770 1,663 

 
(i) Explanation of the variation between Budget and Outturn Net Operating Cost for 2016-17: 
£838k of the variance in budget is in respect of non-cash items, w ith £801k on depreciation and impairment, and £37k on 
pension f inance cost (net). Of the remaining £1,882k underspend against budget, Members’ costs account for an underspend 

of £1,071k, Commissioners’ funding £88k and Parliamentary Service £723k. 
 
(ii) Explanation of the variance between Budget and Outturn Capital for 2016-17: 
An overspend variance of £690k occurred on Capital w here the SPCB w as able to take forw ard planned capital expenditure on 

IT and FM equipment, slightly earlier than originally forecast as a result of compensating changes to the phasing of planned 
revenue expenditure. 

 

B. Summary of Outturn against Cash Budget 
 
 2016-17 2015-16 
 Budget Outturn Variance Budget Outturn Variance 

 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 
       
Net Cash Outflow   83,865   77,198  
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and 

cash equivalents 

 (465)   152  

Overall Cash Outturn(Statement of 
Cash Flow s) (iii) 

84,454 83,400 1,054 77,566 77,350 216 

 

(iii) Explanation of the variation between Cash Budget and Cash Outturn for 2016-17: 
The actual cash drawdown (£83,400k) was within the cash budget for the year (£84,454k). The net increase / (decrease) in 
cash and cash equivalents is disclosed in the Statement of Cash Flow s. 

 
 

3. Staff and members’ salaries 
 

 
Pay costs consist of:  

   2016-17 2015-16 

         

   £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 
   

Total Staff 
Members and 

Office Bearers Total Staff 
Members and 

Office Bearers  

Salaries         

 SPCB  29,205 19,306 9,899 27,524 19,907 7,617 

 Seconded staff   650 650 - 686 686 - 

 Ministers   1,231 - 1,231 1,077 - 1,077 

Social security costs        

 SPCB  2,728 1,793 935 2,111 1,314 797 

 Seconded staff   83 83 - 68 68 - 

 Ministers   147 - 147 145 - 145 

Other pension costs        

 SPCB  5,186 3,619 1,567 4,997 3,476 1,521 

 Seconded staff   153 153 - 196 196 - 

 Ministers   219 - 219 217 - 217 
         

Total Salary Cost per Statement of 
Comprehensive Net Expenditure 39,602 25,604 13,998 37,021 25,647 11,374 
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Due to the election in May 2016, Members salary costs in 2016-17 include £2,106,691 of resettlement costs and Ministerial 
salaries include £144,278 of Ministerial/Off iceholder severance costs. SPCB Staff salary costs include £1,037,367 of 
Contractors costs and £554,885 of Agency costs.    

 
The number of MSPs and ministers during 2016-17 w as as follows: 
 

 2016-17 2015-16 

 Total Total 

Ministers (including  2 Law  Officers) 25 25 

MSPs 106 105 

Total Ministers and MSPs 131 130 

 
The number of Members of the Parliament at 31 March 2017 is 129. The number at 31 March 2016 w as 128. With the death of 
the regional Independent Member for Lothian on 4 April 2014, the number of MSPs reduced to 128 until the start of the next 

Parliamentary session in May 2016. There w as one death in service of a regional member during 2016-17 w here a replacement 
w as appointed by the party concerned. 
 
Information on SPCB staff numbers can be found in the Remuneration and Staff Report. 

 

4. Pensions 
 

a. Members of the Civil Service Pension Arrangements - see accounting policies. 

The Principal Civil Service Pension Scheme (PCSPS) and the Civil Servant and Other Pension Scheme (CSOPS) - know n as 

"Alpha" - are unfunded multi-employer defined benefit scheme but the SPCB is unable to identify its share of the underlying 
assets and liabilities. The scheme actuary valued the scheme as at 31 March 2012. You can f ind details in the resource 
accounts of the Cabinet Office: Civil Superannuation here. 

For 2016-17, employers’ contributions of £3,751,190 w ere payable to the PCSPS (2015-16 £3,641,192) at one of four rates in 
the range 20.0% to 24.5% of pensionable earnings, based on salary bands. The Scheme Actuary review s employer 

contributions usually every four years follow ing a full scheme valuation. The contribution rates are set to meet the cost of the 
benefits accruing during 2016-17 to be paid w hen the member retires and not the benefits paid during this period to existing 
pensioners. No individual retired early on ill-health grounds in 2016-17 (2015-16, none). 

The SPCB expects to contribute £3,997,000 to the PCSPS in 2017-18. 

Employees can opt to open a partnership pension account, a stakeholder pension w ith an employer contribution. Employers’ 
contributions of £18,950 (2015-16 £18,738) w ere paid to one or more of the panel of three appointed stakeholder pension 

providers. Employer contributions are age-related and range from 3% to 12.5% of pensionable earnings up to 30 September 
2015 and from 8% to 14.75% of pensionable earnings from 1 October 2015. Employers also match employee contributions up 
to 3% of pensionable earnings. In addition, employer contributions of £725 (2015-16 £739), 0.8% of pensionable pay up to 30 
September 2015 and 0.5% of pensionable pay from 1 October 2015, w ere payable to the PCSPS to cover the cost of the future 
provision of lump sum benefits on death in service or ill health retirement of these employees. 

Contributions due to the partnership pension providers at the balance sheet date w ere £2,864.  Contributions prepaid at that 
date w ere £nil. 

Staff seconded to SPCB from other organisations are members of the pension schemes operated by their respective 
employers. 
           

 
b. Members of the Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme (SPPS) - see accounting policies.  
 

The pension scheme for the Parliament Members provides benefits based on f inal pensionable pay. The assets of the scheme 

are held separately from those of the SPCB and are managed by an Investment Manager. The Government Actuary w as 
required to produce an initial actuarial valuation of the assets and liabilities of the SPPS as at 6 May 1999 and thereafter to 
conduct a full valuation at three yearly intervals. The last valuation dated 9 February 2015 covered the period 1 April 2011 to 31 
March 2014. 

 
i. The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position are as follow s: 
 

 
Note 

31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

  £’000 £’000 

Present value of scheme liabilities 
 

98,593 73,361 

Fair value of scheme assets  69,723 57,440 

Net liability (surplus) 15 28,870 15,921 

http://www.civilservicepensionscheme.org.uk/about-us/resource-accounts/
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ii.  The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure are as follow s: 
 

 
 

2016-17 2015-16 

 
 

£’000 £’000 

Current service cost 
 

4,241 4,646 

Reduction in past service cost * 
 

- - 

Total operating charge 
 

4,241 4,646 

 
* Past service costs arise w hen an employer undertakes to provide a different level of benefits than previously 
promised.  The Government Actuary’s Department is not aw are of any material past service costs w hich have 
arisen over 2016-17 or 2015-16.  

 
Analysis of the amount recognised in Statement of 
Financial Position 

 
  

Interest cost 
 

2,679 2,474 

Interest on scheme assets 
 

(2,070) (1,861) 

Total cost  609 613 

 
 

Total cost in the Statement of Comprehensive Net 
Expenditure 

 
4,850 5,259 

 

Allocated in the accounts as follows: 
 

 
Note 

2016-17 2015-16 

 
 

£’000 £’000 

Other pension costs (contributions by employer)  1,786 1,738 

Pension Finance Cost (Net) 5 3,064 3,521 

Total 
 

4,850 5,259 
 
 

iii.  Analysis of amount recognised in Statement of Change in Taxpayers’ Equity (SCITE): 

 2016-17 2015-16 

 £’000 £’000 

Actual less expected return on scheme assets 8,445 (1,366) 

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities 1,202 383 

Changes in assumptions underlying the present scheme liabilities (19,532) 5,459 

Total actuarial gains/(loss) recognised in SCITE  (9,885) 4,476 
 

 
The actuarial loss in 2016-17 arose from a combination of changes in assumptions (a loss of £19.5m compared to a 
gain of £5.5m in 2015-16) w hich arise from changes in the principal f inancial assumptions (discount rate applied, 
pension increases and earnings increases – see vii), experience gains on the liabilities (a gain of £1.2m 2016-17, 

£0.4m 2015-16) w hich results from the pension and salary increases being low er than expected and actual return on 
assets exceeding interest on assets (a gain of £8.4m in 2016-17, a loss of £1.4m in 2015-16). 
 
The demographic assumptions determine the incidence of the benefit outf low  and include factors such as mortality 

(in service and in retirement), w ithdraw al from service, proportions married and ages of dependants. The 
demographic assumptions are chosen by reference to the specif ic experience of the scheme membership, and w ere 
review ed as part of the actuarial valuation of the scheme at 31 March 2014. 
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iv. Changes in the present value of the scheme liabilities are as follow s: 

 

 
31 March 2017 

£’000 
31 March 2016 

£’000 

Opening liability 
 

73,361 72,648 

Current service cost 
 

4,241 4,646 

Interest cost  2,679 2,474 

Contributions by members  948 913 

Actuarial losses 
 

18,330 (5,842) 

Net transfers-in, less benefits paid out  (966) (1,478) 

Closing liability 
 

98,593 73,361 
 

 
 

v. Changes in the fair value of scheme assets are as follow s: 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

 £’000 £’000 

Opening fair value of scheme assets 57,440 55,772 

Interest on scheme assets 2,070 1,861 

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets 8,445 (1,366) 

Contributions by employer 1,786 1,738 

Contributions by members* 1,409 1,000 

Benefits paid and expenses (1,427) (1,565) 

Closing fair value of scheme assets 69,723 57,440 

* including transfers in and transfers out by members 
 

 
The SPCB expects to contribute £1,857,000 to the Members’ Pension Fund in 2017-18. Employer contributions from 

1 April 2017 w ere 20.2 % of pensionable pay, the rate recommended in the 2014 formal valuation.  
 

vi. Movement in deficit during the year: 

 
 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

 £’000 £’000 

Deficit at 1 April (15,921) (16,876) 

Current service cost (net of members contributions) (4,241) (4,648) 

Contributions by SPCB 1,786 1,738 

Other f inance income (609) (613) 

Actuarial gain/(loss) (9,885) 4,476 

Deficit at 31 March  (28,870) (15,921) 
 

vii. The major categories of scheme assets as a percentage to total scheme assets are as follow s: 
 

 

 

2016-17 2015-16 

Equities 
 

55% 62% 

Bonds 
 

34% 29% 

Cash 
 

9% 7% 

Property 
 

2% 2% 
 

Principal actuarial assumptions at the Statement of Financial Position date: 

 
31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

Discount rate 2.65% 3.55% 

Future salary increases * 4.35% 4.2% 

Rate of return in excess of:   

Pension increases (CPI) 0.3% 1.3% 

Earnings increases (1.6)% (0.6)% 
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Expectation of life at age 65 (years)   

Current pensioners - men 25.3 25.2 

Current pensioners - w omen 26.9 26.8 

Future pensioners – men 27.5 27.4 

Future pensioners - w omen 29.0 28.9 
 
* This is a long term salary increase assumption and has been derived as 2.0% (2015-16  2.0%) per annum in excess of cost 
price inflation. This assumption is also consistent with the valuation assumption. This gap is based on historical evidence of the 

difference between increase to National Average earnings and Cost Price Inflation. As a long term measure, it is not 
necessarily an indication of the expected level of salary increase for MSPs in the coming years. 
 
Further information on the Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme can be found in the accounts for the scheme ending 31 

March 2017 w hich are published on the Parliament w eb site. 

 
5. Other administration costs 
 

   2016-17 2015-16 

      

  Note £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

       

Reimbursement of members’ expenses (a)  15,297  12,276 
 
Financial assistance for registered political parties (b)  499  470 
 

Rentals under operating leases   -  10 
 
Other accommodation costs:      

 Rates  3,937  3,758  

 Utilities  849  867  

 Other  4,248 9,034 5,263 9,888 

      

Travel and expenses, hospitality   569  610 

Other expenditure:      

 External consultants  602  614  

 Equipment and IT maintenance  2,747  2,409  

 Postage, stationery and publications (c) 1,233  1,492  

 Other staff costs  446  534  

 Other  3,326 8,354 2,748 7,797 

 
Non-cash items:      

 Pension f inance cost (net) 4, 15, 21 3,064  3,521  

 Auditor's remuneration and expenses 21 68  67  

 Loss on disposal of assets 7,8, 21 8 3,140 41 3,629 

       

Total other admin cost per Statement of Comprehensive 
Net Expenditure   36,893  34,680 

 
 

(a) Details of reimbursement of members’ expenses is published on the SPCB w ebsite. In 2016-17 a revised staff cost 

provision w as introduced for the employment of members’ staff , and these costs increased by £3 million. 
 

(b) Under the Financial Assistance for Registered Political Parties Order 1999, the registered political parties in the 
Parliament are entitled to monies to assist their Members to carry out their parliamentary duties. 

 
(c) Other expenditure – postage, stationery and publications - includes the costs incurred by members in respect of their 

postage and stationery provision supplies to assist them in the discharge of their parliamentary duties. An analysis of 

these costs, by individual member, is published separately. 

http://mspallowances.scottish.parliament.uk/
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6. Operating income 
 

   2016-17  2015-16 

   £’000  £'000 

Operating income analysed by classif ication     

and activity, is as follow s:     

 Income from broadcasting  4  3 

 Shop trading income  236  246 

 Hospitality income  296  326 

 Audio visual income  48  59 

 Miscellaneous income  108  94 

 Income from donated artw ork  4  26 

Total income  696  754  

 

Income figures, disclosed above, are shown before the deduction of expenses incurred. 
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7. Property, plant and equipment 
 
        

 
      2016-17 
 

  Land 

Buildings 
and Fixed 

Plant 

Equipment 
and 

Vehicles IT systems 

Assets 
Under 

Construction 

Artwork and 
Donated 
Assets  Total 

Cost or valuation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 April 2016 9,200 353,790 3,258 6,334 - 1,277 373,859 

Additions (purchased) - - - 998 1,139 - 2,137 

Additions (donated) - - - - - 4 4 

Transfers - - 50 271 - - 321 

Disposals - - (205) (1,950) - - (2,155) 

Impairment - (1,100) - - - - (1,100) 

Indexation - 12,946 - - - - 12,946 

At 31 March 2017 9,200 365,636 3,103 5,653 1,139 1,281 386,012 

         

Depreciation        

At 1 April 2016 - 65,059 1,783 4,935 - - 71,777 

Charged in year - 8,955 470 948 - - 10,373 

Transfers - - 50 233 - - 283 

Disposals - - (205) (1,941) - - (2,146) 

Impairment - (165) - - - - (165) 

Indexation  - 84 - - - - 84 

At 31 March 2017 - 73,933 2,098 4,175 - - 80,206 

         

Net book value        

At 31 March 2017 9,200 291,703 1,005 1,478 1,139 1,281 305,806 

At 1 April 2016 9,200 288,731 1,475 1,399 - 1,277 302,082 

 
 
 
Note: 

 
The principal non-current asset of the SPCB is the parliamentary building at Holyrood, Edinburgh. This w as occupied in the 
2004-05 f inancial year w hen the Parliament land and building w ere f irst professionally valued on a depreciated replacement 
cost basis as at 7 January 2005 by James Barr (Chartered Surveyors) . In line w ith the SPCB’s non-current asset accounting 

policy of a full revaluation commissioned at a minimum of every f ive years, James Barr (Chartered Surveyors) undertook a full 
revaluation of the Parliament land and buildings on 7 January 2010 at £306,500,000. GVA James Barr (Chartered Surveyors) 
undertook a subsequent full revaluation of the Parliament land and buildings as at 31 March 2015 at £304,000,000. This 
included structural buildings valued at £269,473,000, a land value of £9,200,000 and £25,327,000 in respect of f ixed plant. The 

valuation w as made in accordance w ith the RICS Professional Standards January 2014, as amended, incorporating the 
International Valuation Standards 2013. The valuation is an assessment of Fair Value, referenced to Depreciated Replacement 
Cost, w ith an inherent assumption of on-going use by the Parliament. Revaluation may result in an increase or decrease of the 
previous recorded value.  

 
Artwork and donated assets are professionally valued on the basis of Insurance every 5 years. The third professional valuation 
took place during 2014-15. Revaluation may result in an increase or decrease of the previous recorded value. 
 

In 2016-17 the SPCB w ere recommended to replace the lighting installation in the chamber w hich w as coming to the end of its 
useful life. The f ittings w ere over 12 years old and used outdated metal halide technology w hich w as no longer supported by 
the original manufacturer. Due to an increase in the rate of failure of the f ittings over recent times, the SPCB decided that the 

existing f ittings w ould be replaced during the 2017 summer recess.  
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At the most recent valuation of the Holyrood building at 31 March 2015, the existing chamber lighting system had been 
estimated to have an expected remaining life of 15 years. In 2016-17 an impairment loss of £935,000 w as recognised in 
respect of the chamber lighting (Fixed Plant), due to the reduction in the useful life of the asset.   

 
The f inal cost of the replacement chamber lighting is expected to be £1,100,000, w hich is taken as an estimate of the original 
cost to be removed from the accounts. The depreciation to be eliminated on the replacement of the chamber light ing is 
calculated to be £165,000. In the Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure the net impairment charge of £935,000 is 

show n w ithin Depreciation and Impairment. £192,000 has been transferred from Revaluation Reserve to General Fund in 
respect of the impairment of the chamber lighting. 

 

 
  
      2015-16 
 

  Land 

Buildings 
and Fixed 

Plant 

Equipment 
and 

Vehicles IT systems 

Assets 
Under 

Construction 

Artwork and 
Donated 
Assets  Total 

Cost or valuation £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 April 2015 9,200 350,989 3,254 5,898 - 1,251 370,592 

Additions (purchased)   453 633 -  1,086 

Additions (donated)     - 26 26 

Transfers     - - - 

Disposals   (449) (197) - - (646) 

Indexation  2,801   - - 2,801 

At 31 March 2016 9,200 353,790 3,258 6,334 - 1,277 373,859 

         

Depreciation        

At 1 April 2015 - 56,189 1,765 4,134 - - 62,088 

Charged in year - 8,870 467 959 - - 10,296 

Disposals - - (449) (158) - - (607) 

Indexation  - - - - - - - 

At 31 March 2016 - 65,059 1,783 4,935 - - 71,777 

         

Net book value        

At 31 March 2016 9,200 288,731 1,475 1,399 - 1,277 302,082 

At 1 April 2015 9,200 294,800 1,489 1,764 - 1,251 308,504 
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8. Intangible assets 
       

   

2016-17 

    

2015-16 

  

  IT Softw are 

Assets 
Under 

Construction 

 

Total  IT Softw are 

Assets 
Under 

Construction Total 

Cost or valuation £'000 £'000 £'000  £'000 £'000 £'000 

At 1 April  2,174 70 2,244  2,252 13 2,265 

Additions (purchased) - 53 53  - 70 70 

Transfers (321) - (321)  13 (13) - 

Disposals (1,361) - (1,361)  (91) - (91) 

At 31 March  492 123 615  2,174 70 2,244 

         

Amortisation        

At 1 April  2,045 - 2,045  1,995 - 1,995 

Charged in year 83 - 83  139 - 139 

Transfers (283) - (283)     

Disposals (1,353) - (1,353)  (89) - (89) 

At 31 March  492 - 492  2,045 - 2,045 

         

Net book value        

At 31 March  - 123 123  129 70 199 

At 1 April  129 70 199  257 13 270 
 
        

 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 

 



Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body Annual Accounts 2016-17 

Financial Statements 
___________________________________________________________________________ 
 

72 

 

9. Inventories 
 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

 £’000 £’000 
 

Retail  69 64 

Other stock 162 182 

 231 246 

 

 

10. Trade and other receivables: amounts falling due within one year 
 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

 £’000 £’000 
 

VAT 421 391 

Trade receivables 134 74 

Prepayments and accrued income 875 327 

Other receivables 141 457 

 1,571 1,249 

 

 

11.  Cash and cash equivalents 
 

 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

 £’000 £’000 
 

Balance at 1 April 1,855 1,703 

Net change in cash and cash equivalents (465) 152 

Balance at 31 March  1,390 1,855 

 

Balances at Government Banking Service 1,364 1,815 

Balances at Commercial banks and cash in hand 26 40 

Balance at 31 March 1,390 1,855 

 

 
 

12. Trade and other payables: amounts falling due within one year 
 

 

 

Note 31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

  £’000 £’000 
 
Accruals and deferred income 

 
3,958 4,048 

Trade payables  492 238 

Other payables  1,824 1,622 

Scottish Consolidated Fund (SCF)  1,390 1,855 

Restructuring  provision 14 34 143 

Capital retention 14 - 127 

Members staff pensions scheme provision 14 - 398 

 
 

7,698 8,431 
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13. Other payables: amounts falling due after one year 
 

  31 March 2017 31 March 2016 

  £’000 £’000 
 

Restructuring  provision 14 13 46 

  13 46 

 

14. Provisions for liabilities and charges  

Restructuring provision 

 
 

Note 2016-17 2015-16 

  £’000 £’000 
 

 
  

Balance at  1 April  189 336 

(Utilised) in year  (144) (159) 

Increase in provision  2 12 

Balance at 31 March   47 189 

 

Amount due w ithin one year 12 34 143 

Amount due after one year 13 13 46 

Balance at 31 March   47 189 

 
 

A voluntary early severance/voluntary early retirement scheme w as held in 2008-09 for senior staff. This provision w ill continue 
until normal retirement age is reached. A voluntary early severance/voluntary early retirement scheme open to all staff was held 
in 2010-11. Terms and conditions w ere under the Civil Service Compensation Scheme Arrangements. 

Capital retention 

 

 
Note 2016-17 2015-16 

  £’000 £’000 
 
Balance at 1 April  

 
127 127 

(Utilised)  in year  (127) - 

Balance at 31 March   - 127 

 

Amount due w ithin one year 12 - 127 

Amount due after one year  - - 

Balance at 31 March   - 127 

 
The capital retention relates to the contract for construction of the External Security Facility w hich commenced in October 2012 

and completed in autumn 2013.  The f inal retention w as paid in early 2016-17. 

Members’ staff pension scheme provision 

 
 

Note 2016-17 2015-16 

  £’000 £’000 
 
Balance at 1 April  

 
398 309 

(Utilised) in year  (398) 89 

Balance at 31 March   - 398 

 

Amount due w ithin one year 12 - 398 

Amount due after one year  - - 

Balance at 31 March   - 398 

 

This provision w as created in advance of the SPCB auto-enrolment for members’ staff for pension provision on 1 July 2016. 
Support staff employed by Members of the Parliament have contractual rights to have the equivalent of 10% of gross annual 
salary contributed tow ards a pension, but not all had exercised this right. In advance of auto-enrolment under the Pensions Act 
2008 for members’ staff which applied from 1 July 2016 there w as an on-going exercise to approach those who have 

outstanding entitlement and invite them to enrol. The provision represented the likely cost to the SPCB of outstanding pension 
contributions and w as released against the actual costs incurred when these staff were auto-enrolled in the pension scheme. 
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15.  Net funded Members Pension Scheme Liability 
 
Under IAS 19, a liability of £28,970,000 is recognised for the Scottish Parliamentary Pension Scheme. Further information is 

provided on this in note 4.  
 

 Note 2016-17 2015-16 

  £’000 £’000 
 

Balance at 1 April  

 

15,921 16,876 

Net movement in Pension Reserves 4(iii) 9,885 (4,476) 

Pension Finance Cost (Net) 5 3,064 3,521 

Balance at 31 March 4(i) 28,870 15,921 
 

 
16. Capital commitments 
 

There are capital commitments of £1,245,000 at 31 March 2017 (31 March 2016 £nil).  
 
 

17. Commitments under leases 
 
Operating leases 
 

Total future minimum lease payments under operating leases are given in the table below  for each of the follow ing periods: 

     

   2016-17 2015-16 

   £’000 £’000 

Buildings:   

 Not later than one year  - - 
 
Other:     

 Not later than one year  280 239 

 

 

Later than one year and not later 
than f ive years  94 239 

 
   374 478 

   
Finance leases 

 
There are no f inance leases in operation (2015-16 none). 
 
  

18.  Financial instruments 
 
As the cash requirements of the SPCB are met through the Scottish Consolidated Fund budgeting process, f inancial 
instruments play a more limited role in creating risk than w ould apply in a non public sector body of a similar size. The majority 

of f inancial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line w ith the SPCB’s expected purchase and usage 
requirements. The SPCB is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 
 

 

19. Contingent liabilities 
 
The SPCB has provided a number of letters of indemnity for loaned artw ork w hich is on display w ithin the Parliament. At 31 

March 2017 the maximum contingent liability in respect of these indemnities w as £364,520 (31 March 2016 £950,650).   
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20.  Related party transactions (including Commissioners and Ombudsman) 
 

Scotland’s Futures Forum Limited (SFF) w as established on 16 August 2005 as a Company Limited by Guarantee. It w as 

created by the Parliament to help its Members, along w ith policy makers, businesses, academics, and the w ider community of 
Scotland, look beyond immediate horizons, to some of the challenges and opportunities in the future. All shares are ow ned by 
the Parliamentary Corporate Body w ho also hold the controlling interest in the SFF. The net contribution is included in these 

accounts but the SPCB does not consolidate on grounds of immateriality. A set of the accounts is available on request. 
 
The SPCB has a number of transactions w ith the Scottish Government and w ith other government departments and public 
bodies, including HM Revenue & Customs. Additionally, regular transactions take place w ith the Scottish Parliamentary 

Pension Scheme, see note 4. 
 
In 2016-17 the Scottish Public Services Ombudsman, the Scottish Information Commissioner, the Commissioner for Children 
and Young People in Scotland, the Scottish Commission for Human Rights, the Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public 

Life in Scotland, and the Standards Commission for Scotland w ere responsible for the management of their funds and 
preparation of their accounts. Further detail on their accounts can be found on the appropriate w ebsites. In relation to each of 
these off ices, the SPCB is responsible for approving the annual budget, setting the off iceholder’s terms and conditions of 
appointment, approving any staff ing determination in terms of numbers and grades, approving advisers’ and assessors’ fees, 

and approving any accommodation arrangements. 
 
Funding provided w as: 

           
 2016-17 2015-16  

   

 £’000 £’000 

   

Scottish Public Services Ombudsman 3,360 3,273 
Scottish Information Commissioner 

1,564 1,560 
Commissioner for Children and Young People in Scotland 1,242 1,286 

Scottish Commission for Human Rights 966 948 
Commissioner for Ethical Standards in Public Life in Scotland 

958 853 
Standards Commission for Scotland 236 225 

Scotland’s Futures Forum Limited  87 87 

Net Cost (Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure) 
8,413 8,232 

 

 

21. Non-cash charges 
  
The follow ing non-cash charges have been included in the accounts: 

     Note  2016-17 2015-16 

      £’000 £’000 

        

Pension f inance cost (net)   5 3,064 3,521 

Auditor's Fee    5 68 67 

Loss on disposal of assets    5 8 41 

     3,140 3,629 

 

 

 

22.      Post Statement of Financial Position events 

 

There are no material post Statement of Financial Position events that require to be adjusted in the accounts or to be disclosed.
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SCOTTISH PARLIAMENTARY CORPORATE BODY 

 
DIRECTION BY THE SCOTTISH MINISTERS 

in accordance with section 19(4) of the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) 

Act 2000 

 

 

The statement of accounts for the financial year ended 31 March 2007 and 
subsequent years shall comply with the accounting principles and disclosure 

requirements of the edition of the Government Financial Reporting Manual 
(FReM) which is in force for the year for which the statement of accounts are 
prepared. 

 

The accounts shall be prepared so as to give a true and fair view of the net 

resource outturn, resources applied to objectives, recognised gains and 
losses and cash flows for the financial year, and of the state of affairs as at 
the end of the financial year. 

 

This direction shall be reproduced as an appendix to the statement of 

accounts.   The direction given on 15 July 2002 is hereby revoked.   

  
 

 
Signed by the authority of the Scottish Ministers 
 
Dated 17 January 2006 
 

 


